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COVID-19 Impact

In 2020 HSV was impacted severly by
the pandemic. We are still struggling to
recover at the time of this…

HSV Voted #1 Best Small
Airport in U.S.

Huntsville International Airport (HSV),
was named the “#1 Small Airport in the
US” as part of the 2020 USA Today…

New and Renovated
at HSV

FY20 was a year full of new innovations
at HSV. Here are a few of the launches
and upgrades: -The…

Accolades, Highlights
& Recognition

The Port of Huntsville saw a lot of
positive in 2020. Here are some of our
accolades, highlights and recognition…

Port of Huntsville
Gives Back

The Port of Huntsville values
opportunities to give back to the
community and FY20 presented
employees with several occasions. HSV
Bags…

Industry Update
& Involvement

HSV is engaged locally, statewide and
nationwide with aviation organizations
and industry. This includes everything
from serving on boards and…

Public Safety Updates

Full Scale Disaster Drill Public Safety
hosted the Full Scale Disaster Drill on
September 18th. This event takes place
every…

Business Development
Updates

Jetplex Industrial Park It was a busy
year at the Jetplex Industrial Park with
ground breakings, new services
launched and…

What’s Next

HSV Master Plan Completed Huntsville
International Airport completed the
update of the airport’s new Master Plan
in July 2020. Representatives…

Get startedDesign a site like this with WordPress.com

 Subscribe

https://portofhuntsville.com/jetplex-industrial-park/tenants/
https://portofhuntsville.com/contact/


2020 Annual Report

Home

Chairman/ CEO Letter

Leadership

Tenant List

Contact

Financials

Blog at WordPress.com.

In 2020 HSV was impacted severly by the pandemic. We are still struggling to recover at the time
of this report’s release. However, the airport has stayed positive focusing on three primary goals
throughout the pandemic: 1) to keep our passengers, employees and tenants safe, 2) to
continue to serve our community and 3) to preserve jobs.

More Information Here:

Keeping You Safe

Face Mask Policy

CARES ACT Grant
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Huntsville International Airport (HSV), was named the “#1 Small Airport in the US” as part of the
2020 USA Today 10Best Readers’ Choice Travel Awards. We were the only airport in in Alabama
to have secured a spot in the top twenty.

Nominees were chosen by a panel of experts which included editors from USA Today, editors
from 10Best.com, expert contributors, and sources from other Gannett media properties.
Finalists were chosen by an online public vote that took place over the course of four weeks.

“We are ecstatic that Huntsville International Airport has been chosen by voters as North
America’s best small airport for USA Today’s 10 Best Readers’ Choice awards,” said Rick Tucker,
Chief Executive Officer, Huntsville International Airport. “Our team works each and every day to
provide excellent service to passengers, but we also work to represent this region well so that a
visitor’s experience will reflect positively on the state of Alabama as whole. We are so grateful to
our community for supporting HSV by voting. We share this honor with them and will continue to
work hard to provide North Alabama and Southern Tennessee residents with even more great
options at their local airport.”

On March 7th HSV hosted a party at Mars Music Hall in Downtown Huntsville to celebrate with
our community. The event featured a live band and freebies for everyone who attended the
party!
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FY20 was a year full of new innovations at HSV. Here are a few of the launches and upgrades:

-The Airport Artway and Community Wall were launched in January. More details available HERE.

-Mamava Nursing station launched at HSV. More details available HERE.

-Electric Car Charging Stations launched in the parking garage. More details available HERE.

-New Pet Relief area was launched on the concourse at HSV.

-Four Points by Sheraton Completes extensive renovation of hotel.

-Two brand new Board Members joined the Board of Directors at HSV: LaFreeda Jordan and
Joey Ceci

-HSV launched the #StopTheDrive campaign in 2020 as we publicly courted Southwest Airlines.

-HSV successfully hosted a gorilla and social media drive to be selected #1 Best Snall Airport in
the U.S. by USA Today Travel.
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The Port of Huntsville saw a lot of positive in 2020. Here are some of our accolades, highlights
and recognition received throughout the year:

Discretionary grant totaling $4,263,414
CARES Act grant totaling $13,785,691
Honored two outgoing Board Members: Betty Fletcher and Bill Johnston at a regional
partnership dinner event.
Added two new Board Members: LaFreeda Jordan and Joey Ceci
Huntsville International Airport was voted the #1 Small Airport in the U.S. via USA Today
HSV launched the new Airport Artway and Community Art Wall in partnership with Carnegie
Virtual Arts Center
HSV opened the Mamava Nursing Station
HSV launched electric car charging stations
HSV opened a new pet relief area on the concourse
HSV No. 17 in the continental U.S. for international air cargo
HSV received three industry awards for Marketing and Communications from ACI-NA
EDPA named 92 acre site at Jetplex Industrial Park as an Advantage Site
DSV launched Shanghai Service
Navistar broke ground on an expansion project at the Port of Huntsville
Avilution broke ground on their new home at HSV
Completed annual TSA CFR Part 1542 inspection with zero (0) infractions that resulted in a
Letter of Warning
Achieved an average Baggage Delivery time of 11.53 minutes
City of Huntsville Beautification Awards recognized Glenn Hearn Entrance, IIC Entrance and
Signature Flight Support as “Honor Roll” recipients
TSA recognized for Port of Huntsville employees for thwarting attempted human trafficking
at HSV
HSV completed the Full Scale Disaster Drill
Completed the Security System Upgrade
Completed the Concourse Fascia Project
ACI-NA Excellence in Airport Marketing, Communications and Customer Service Awards-
Community Education & Outreach Honorable Mention for Mobile Aviation Classroom
ACI-NA Excellence in Airport Marketing, Communications and Customer Service Awards-
Community  Honorable Mention for Promotional Items- Solar Eclipse Glasses
ACI-NA Excellence in Airport Marketing, Communications and Customer Service Awards-
Community Honorable Mention for Special Events- Runway Run.
Silver Addy at American Advertising Awards- Mamava Nursing Station Graphics (Accolades)
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HSV is engaged locally, statewide and nationwide with aviation organizations and industry. This
includes everything from serving on boards and committees to working on legislative initiatives
and authoring Op-Eds to educate the public.

-Rick Tucker, CEO authored the Op-Ed: Huntsville’s Economic Future Tied to Airport’s Success
and informed the public about the Nationwide Pilot Shortage.

-Rick Tucker, CEO at Huntsville International Airport serves on the Airports Council International
– North America (ACI-NA) Board of Directors- Board Finance Committee Chair.  ACI-NA is a trade
association whose membership represents approximately 200 governing bodies in the U.S. and
Canada that own and operate over 360 airports in North America, ranging from general aviation
and small commercial service airports to the busiest and largest airports in the world.  ACI-NA
member airports enplane more than 95 percent of the domestic and virtually all the
international airline passenger and cargo traffic in North America.  It also encompasses
approximately 380 World Business Partner and Associate Members representing a wide variety
of businesses that provide products and services to the aviation industry.  The mission of ACI-
NA is to advocate policies and provide services that strengthen the ability of airports to serve
their passengers, customers, and communities.

-Rick Tucker, CEO at Huntsville International Airport serves the Board of Directors of the
Aviation Council of Alabama (ACA).  The ACA is Alabama’s only statewide airport and aviation
association that represents International, Air Carrier, General Aviation Airports, and Aviation
Businesses, Economic Developers, Pilots, Aircraft Owners and Aviation Associations. The
Aviation Council of Alabama is dedicated to continued improvement, development and
advancements of airports and aviation throughout the state.

-Butch Robert, COO serves as a Board Member of Alabama’s Space Authority Board.
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The Port of Huntsville values opportunities to give back to the community and FY20 presented
employees with several occasions.

HSV Bags of Hope to Foster Change HSV learned that many foster children carry their
belongings in a trash bag when they are transitioning from home to home. This was
disheartening to us and so we partnered with Kids to Love to host a bag donation drive. We
asked passengers to donate their gently used or new suitcases so that we could provide
them to children in foster care. We collected over 100 bags.
Liz Hurley Run
A team of (18) POH employees, family and friends ran in the Liz Hurley Ribbon Run 5K and
raised money for breast cancer awareness.
Manna House
Volunteer opportunity where POH employees served meals and distributed food to those in
need. – 4 Employees served meals on one day. 
Christmas Charities Year Round
Families in need benefited from boxes of food assembled during the holiday season by POH
employees.  Employees sorted several thousand items of food.  We didn’t do Christmas
Charities this Fiscal Year
United Way
POH employee contributions and fund-raising for the annual United Way Campaign totaled
$(18,532)  for FY20.
POH Customer Service Awards Recognition
Quarterly one tenant and one airport employee nomination is selected to receive an award
for outstanding Customer Service. FY 20’s winners were: Airport Employees: Twearnier Rice,
Administration; Brandon Moore, Public Safety; Chad Baker, Engineering; Lucy Cole, Four
Points by Sheraton; Tyrone Henderson, Huntleigh; and Sherri Shamwell, Delta.

Other Community Partnerships

-HSV sponsors UAH Atheletics- kids 12 and under get in FREE thanks to HSV.

-HSV supports Alabama A&M athletics with sports sponsorships.

-Leadership Class 33 opening retreat was hosted by HSV.

-Huntsville International Airport was the presenting sponsor for the Fiddler’s Convention at
Athens State University.

-HSV is a feature exhibit sponsor of the Cook Museum of Natural History in Decatur, Alabama

-HSV welcomed wounded warriors to the airport for Veterans Day as the official kick-off location
of Heroes Week.

-HSV flew three locals to Washington D.C. after they were selected to help decorate the White
House for the holidays.

-HSV sponsored the annual Galaxy of Lights display at the Huntsville Botanical Gardens with a
feature display promoting the airport.

-HSV decorated a tree at the annual Tinsel Trail in downtown Huntsville.

-HSV participated in local Christmas parades in Huntsville and Madison. We were awarded the
Mayor’s Choice for our entry in the Madison Christmas Parade.

-HSV debuted the brand new Airport Artway and the Community Art Wall in partnership with
Carnegie Arts Center of Decatur.

-HSV hosted the Smooch a Pooch event in partnership with A New Leash on Life to draw
attention to local shelter animals.
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Full Scale Disaster Drill

Public Safety hosted the Full Scale Disaster Drill on September 18th. This event takes place
every three years in coordination with our local mutual aid partners. James Clemens theater
department participated by doing the make up for mock victims. This exercise allows our team
to practice responding to a disaster to be better prepared.

See Something Say Something

The Department of Homeland Security recognized four HSV employees for their part in
thwarting a human trafficking incident at HSV. In follow up HSV has partnered with the Junior
League to mount information in the bathroom stalls at the airport to aid human trafficking
victims and to educate the public. HSV’s public safety team trains employees to be watchful of
their workspace and if they See Something to Say Something. In this instance doing that saved
a young woman from human trafficking.
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Jetplex Industrial Park

It was a busy year at the Jetplex Industrial Park with ground breakings, new services launched
and expansions.

–Polaris expands in Jetplex Industrial Park

-HSV hosted the 26th Annual Frank Mickle Golf Tournament on September 27th

–Navistar broke ground on a new and expanded facility at the Jetplex

–Jetplex Industrial Site was designated an EDPA Advantage Site

-Avilution broke ground on a new facility at the Jetplex

International Intermodal Center

-DSV launched service to Shanghai
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HSV Master Plan Completed

Huntsville International Airport completed the update of the airport’s new Master Plan in July
2020. Representatives from the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority and the project
team, led by Michael Baker International spent months engaging community leaders, business
owners, and residents to encourage them to share their vision and aspirations for the future of
Huntsville International Airport. Participants shared ideas, provided feedback on community
values, and learned more about the master planning vision throughout the process.

“Huntsville International Airport team members, regional leaders, local business owners, and
residents in our community worked in tandem discussing and developing this long-range vision
for the airport”, said Rick Tucker, Huntsville International Airport CEO. This was a collective effort
from many individuals that both care about the airport and understand that Huntsville’s
economic future is tied to our airport’s success.”

Master plan details can be found here: HSV Master Plan

Dream Chaser

Dream Chaser Update: The preliminary study proved the feasibility of landing, and today we are
pleased to announce that we have imitated the permitting process with the US Federal Aviation
Administration.

This process is expected to take 18 months and with coincide with the scheduled cargo re-
supply missions for NASA to the International Space Station.
This is much more than an economic development project that will bring additional
business to the airport and the community. This represents a shared vision of Huntsville as
a leader in the commercial space economy as the first community to make a commitment to
this vehicle and its role in space commerce.
We look forward to seeing “Low Earth Orbit” on our arrivals board!
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Chairman/ CEO Letter

During the 2020 fiscal year, Huntsville International Airport found itself breaking records and pacing
to have one of the airport’s best years ever. In fact, HSV was designated the #1 Best Small Airport in
the United States by USA Today. Then unprecedented change occurred when the COVID-19
pandemic took hold and reshaped the aviation industry. Despite significant losses in traffic and
revenue the team at HSV held their heads high and continued their constant mission to reflect a
world-class image while enhancing the level of customer experience at the Port of Huntsville.
However, in this new landscape the airport did this with three top priorities in mind- 1) to keep
passengers, employees and tenants safe, 2) to continue to provide air service to our community and
3) to preserve jobs.

This annual report highlights both the accomplishments achieved in FY20 and the changes that
resulted from the challenges we faced. There is much to celebrate at Huntsville International Airport,
the International Intermodal Center and Jetplex Industrial Park and you will find that those
challenges became opportunities as we pressed forward. You will see strength in our infrastructure,
coordinated programs to improve customer service and great advances in technology and facilities. 
We were also once again selected by the City of Huntsville as a beautification award recipient and we
are extremely proud of the spirit of our employees who are giving back to others in many different
ways to make a positive difference in our community. 

Ongoing strategic initiatives have resulted in continued growth in our industrial park, while national
recognition as the 17  largest air cargo airport in the United States assures the Port of Huntsville a
place among the elite in the global logistics market place. We go forward mindful of our
responsibilities and with the desire to further the mission of the Port of Huntsville: to provide quality
multi-modal transportation services to a diverse regional customer base and to stimulate the
economic growth and development of the Tennessee Valley Region. Thank you for your continued
support as we strive to serve this great region.

Before we close we also want to extend gratitude to two individuals who served on our Board of
Directors for years. Outgoing members in 2020 were Betty Fletcher (18 years served) and Bill
Johnston (19 years served). We also welcome LaFreeda Jordan and Joey Ceci to our team.

Dr. Carl J. Gessler, M.D. – Chairman

Richard Tucker – CEO
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Leadership
Board of Directors:

Pictured from left to right: Carl J.Gessler, Jr. M.D.- Chairman; Mark McDaniel-Vice Chair; Philip W.
(Trey) Bentley, III – Secretary/Treasurer; LaFreeda Jordan- Member; Joey Ceci- Vice-Secretary

Executive Team:

Pictured from left to right: Richard Tucker- CEO; Luther H. Roberts, Jr., AAE, CMA- COO; Kevin
Vandeberg, AAE- Director, Operations; Barbie Peek- Director, Business Development; Stan Hogan-
Director, Engineering & Facilities; Randy Taylor- CFO; Amy Nation- General Counsel

Madison County Commission:

Pictured from left to right: Back row- Commissioner Phil Riddick; Commissioner Roger Jones;
Commissioner Craig Hill; Commissioner Phil Vandiver. Front row- Commissioner Steve
Haraway; Commission Chairman Dale Strong; Commissioner JesHenry Malone.

Huntsville City Council:

Pictured left to right: Devyn S. Keith; Frances Akridge; Jennie Robinson; Will Culver; Bill Kling.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 
Board of Directors 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority 

Huntsville, Alabama 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type and fiduciary activities of the 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the 

related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements 

as listed in the table of contents.   

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 

applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 

the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 

such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinions. 

 

Opinions 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 

financial position of the business-type and fiduciary activities of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport 

Authority as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, 

cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a management’s 

discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 7, schedule of changes in the net pension liability on page 36, 

schedule of employer contributions - pension on page 37, schedule of changes in the net OPEB liability on page 

38, schedule of the net OPEB liability on page 39, schedule of employer contributions - OPEB on page 40 and 

schedule of investment returns - OPEB on page 41 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  

Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 

financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain 

limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 

preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 

inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 

statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 

procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.   

 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s basic financial statements.  The schedule of 

expenditures of federal awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform 

Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, as well as the 

Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges as specified in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public 

Agencies, issued by the Federal Aviation Administration, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 

are not a required part of the basic financial statements.   

 

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards and the schedule of passenger facility charges are the 

responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 

records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing 

procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 

comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 

prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our 

opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and the schedule of passenger facility charges are fairly 

stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.   

 

That schedule of insurance in force has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 

basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 15, 2020, on 

our consideration of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s internal control over financial reporting 

and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 

and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or 

on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 

Standards in considering the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s internal control over financial 

reporting and compliance. 
     

  
October 15, 2020 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 

 

 

This discussion and analysis of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority (the “Authority”) financial 

performance provides an overview of the Authority’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 

2020 and 2019.  Please read it in conjunction with the Authority’s financial statements and notes to the 

financial statements, which immediately follow this analysis. 

 

Airport Activities and Highlights 

 

The COVID-19 global pandemic began to significantly affect the global aviation industry in early 2020, and 

the impact to the Huntsville International Airport began in March 2020.  Passenger traffic in April declined 

to four percent of the April 2019 level, and slowly began to increase.  In September 2020, traffic was thirty-

three percent of September 2019.  The severity and duration of the continuing impact of COVID-19 on the 

Authority’s financial conditions cannot be determined at the date of this report.  The Authority has forecasted 

that passenger activity as low as ten percent of normal activity will provide sufficient revenue, along with 

federal financial assistance and Authority unrestricted financial resources to meet operating expenses and 

debt covenant requirements at least through June 30, 2021. 

 

At June 30, 2020, the Huntsville International Airport was served by American Airlines, Delta Airlines, 

United Airlines, and Frontier Airlines directly or through their affiliates.  Silver suspended service due to 

COVID-19, but has resumed service at the date of this report.  At the date of this report, non-stop passenger 

service is provided to Dallas, Chicago, Atlanta, Houston, Charlotte, Washington D.C.-Dulles Orlando and 

Denver.  Non-stop service to Washington D.C.-Reagan has also been temporarily suspended, but this 

important destination is expected to return when COVID-19 impacts are lessened.  Air cargo carriers include 

Atlas, Cargolux, Federal Express and UPS.  Air cargo service includes domestic destinations as well as 

international destinations in Luxembourg, Hong Kong, Korea and Brazil. 

 

The following charts highlight selected key activities of the Authority: 

 

 FY 20  FY 19  Difference  % Diff. 
Enplanements 531,742  669,669  -137,927  -20.60% 

Landed Weight-Air Carriers (000 

pounds) 
707,432  861,695  -154,263  -17.90% 

Landed Weight-Air Cargo (000 

pounds) 
372,513  457,086  -84,573  -18.50% 

Air Carrier Landings 9,512  11,275  -1,763  -15.60% 

Rail Lifts 30,367  31,112  -745  -2.40% 

        
Air Carrier Enplanements Share        

American Airlines 37.0%  35.9%  1.1%   
Delta Airlines 38.4%  40.5%  -2.1%   
United Airlines 18.7%  18.2%  -0.5%   
Frontier Airlines 4.1%  4.4%  -0.3%   
Silver Airways 1.8%  1.0%  0.8%   
        

Air Carrier Load Factors (July 

2020/2019) 
       

American Airlines 53.7%  71.5%  -17.9%   
Delta Airlines 40.8%  83.2%  -42.4%   
United Airlines 45.5%  81.9%  -36.5%   
Frontier Airlines 45.2%  74.6%  -29.4%   

Silver Airways (suspended 2020) 0.0%  64.3%  n.a.   
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 FY 19  FY 18  Difference  % Diff. 
Enplanements 669,669  545,263  124,406  22.80% 

Landed Weight-Air Carriers (000 

pounds) 
861,695  680,839  180,856  26.60% 

Landed Weight-Air Cargo (000 

pounds) 
457,086  435,864  21,222  4.90% 

Air Carrier Landings 11,275  9,337  1,938  20.80% 

Rail Lifts 31,112  34,211  -3,099  -9.10% 

        
Air Carrier Enplanements Share        

American Airlines 35.9%  40.0%  -4.1%   
Delta Airlines 40.5%  45.0%  -4.5%   
United Airlines 18.2%  15.0%  3.2%   
Frontier Airlines 4.4%  0.0%  n.a.   
Silver Airways 1.0%  0.0%  n.a.   
        

Air Carrier Load Factors (July 

2019/2018) 
       

American Airlines 71.5%  63.0%  8.5%   
Delta Airlines 83.2%  77.6%  5.6%   
United Airlines 81.9%  79.3%  2.6%   
Frontier Airlines 74.6%  0.0%  n.a.   
Silver Airways 64.3%  0.0%  n.a.   

 

Rail lifts decreased as was expected beginning in early 2019, due to Norfolk Southern discontinuing the 

shipment of domestic containers to the Authority’s intermodal facility – only international containers were 

shipped since then.   The COVID-19 impact on international cargo passing through the terminal was 

responsible for most of the 2020 decrease. 

 

Using the Financial Statements - An Overview for the User 

 

The financial section consists of five parts - management's discussion and analysis (this section), the 

independent auditors' report, the basic financial statements, required supplemental information and other 

supplemental information.  

 

Analysis of the Airport Authority's Overall Financial Position 

 

As indicated earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of an organization’s financial 

position. 

 

• The Authority's assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $364.4 million 

at June 30, 2020, and by $338.8 million at June 30, 2019. 

 

• These figures include the Authority's net investment in capital assets totaling $301.5 million at June 30, 

2020, and $278.2 million at June 30, 2019.  The Authority uses these capital assets to provide services 

to the airlines, passengers and to service providers at the Airport; consequently, these assets are not 

available for future spending.  Although the Authority’s equity in its capital assets is reported net of 

related debt, the resources required to repay this debt must be provided annually from operations, since 

it is unlikely the capital assets themselves will be liquidated to pay liabilities. 

 

• The use of certain assets is restricted by external requirements, such as by federal law or bond covenants.  

Restricted net position was $17.9 million at June 30, 2020, an increase of $7.2 million from 2019.  This 

increase includes land sales subject to FAA restrictions of $4.5 million, $2.2 million in airline revenue 

collections restricted for capital projects, and $1.1 million of unexpended PFC revenue.  Restricted net 

position was $10.6 million at June 30, 2019, a decrease of $500,000 from 2018. 

 

• The Authority made payments on long-term debt totaling $3.4 million in 2020 and $3.3 million in 2019. 
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Summary of Net Position 

 

 2020 2019 2018 

Current assets $56,382,950  $59,932,982  $50,288,773  

Restricted assets 17,995,889 11,208,266 11,573,783 

Property and equipment, net of accumulated 

depreciation 324,460,939 304,582,962 305,249,683 

Other assets 0 1,237,639 973,454 

Total Assets 398,839,778 376,961,849 368,085,693 

    

Deferred Outflow of Resources 1,980,999 1,770,312 1,976,669 

    

Current liabilities 9,967,357 9,976,637 10,386,032 

Current liabilities, payable from restricted 

assets 
3,282,979 3,620,488 3,513,486 

Long-term debt, net of current portion 19,930,656 22,988,499 26,458,972 

Other liabilities 1,980,249 1,751,662 1,762,396 

Total Liabilities 35,161,241 38,337,286 42,120,886 

    

Deferred Inflow of Resources 1,232,020 1,612,987 1,667,262 

       

Total Net Position $364,427,516  $338,781,888  $326,274,214  

 

• Unrestricted Net Position, which may be used at the Authority's discretion to meet ongoing obligations 

to passengers and other airport users, creditors and for future operations decreased $4.8 million in 2020 

and increased $10.3 million in 2019, as further described below. 

 

Analysis of the Airport Authority’s Operations 

 

The results of this fiscal year's operations are reported in detail in the Statement of Revenues and Expenses, 

the highlights of which are as follows: 

 

• Most of the revenue of $31.3 million in 2020 and $37.0 million in 2019, was collected from users who 

benefited from services provided during the year, such as airlines, concessionaires, passengers, tenants, 

pilots using hangars and other users.    

 

• Passenger enplanements for the 12-month period ending February 2020 were the highest in airport 

history - 735,434, which was nineteen percent higher than the same period ending in 2019, and revenues 

related to this activity increased significantly.  The COVID-19 impact beginning in March 2020 resulted 

in even greater declines in activity and revenues through June 2020, which resulted in a decrease in 2020 

airport revenues of $4.0 million compared to 2019, or 13.5 percent.  Hotel revenues declined as well by 

$1.6 million, or 34.6 percent.  Operating expenses were reduced beginning in March 2020 as much as 

possible, which offset some of the revenue decrease, but a net operating loss of $4.0 million still resulted. 

 

• State and federal grants funded capital projects totaling $20.7 million in 2020 and $14.5 million in 2019.  

Federal financial assistance under the CARES Act was $4.7 million 2020, which reimbursed the 

Authority for airport operating expenses. 

 

• Passenger facility charges of $2.5 million and $2.6 million were collected in 2020 and 2019.  
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Summary of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

 

 2020 2019 2018 

Operating Revenues    

Airport  $28,205,097  $32,218,473  $28,648,458  

Industrial Park 93,800  90,800  112,000  

Hotel 3,033,250  4,641,756  4,315,001  

Other 54,000  46,500  3,750  

  Total Operating Revenues 31,386,147  36,997,529  33,079,209  

    

Operating Expenses    

Airport  15,942,235  15,448,012  14,356,898  

Industrial Park 660,044  800,174  788,161  

Hotel 2,736,125  3,780,627  3,592,257  

Other 433,407  440,062  411,032  

  Total Operating Expenses 19,771,811  20,468,875  19,148,348  

    

Excess of Operating Revenue 11,614,336  16,528,654  13,930,861  

Depreciation 15,658,150  14,570,127  13,811,143  

  Operating Income (Loss) (4,043,814) 1,958,527  119,718  

Interest income 678,176  680,394  462,847  

Interest, amortization and other expense and 

income 1,010,646  (5,184,190) (1,942,310) 

Federal, State and Local Grants 25,463,200  14,491,063  16,850,090  

Passenger Facility Charges 2,537,420  2,591,121  2,117,843  

  Increase in Net Position 25,645,628  14,536,915  17,608,188  

Net Position – Beginning 338,781,888 326,274,214  310,372,340  

Prior Period Adjustment 0 (2,029,241) (1,706,314) 

Net Position – Ending $364,427,516  $338,781,888  $326,274,214  

 

Analysis of Airline Rates and Charges  

 

At the beginning of each fiscal year, the Authority approves a Statement of Policy regarding Airline Use and 

Occupancy of Airport Facilities and Periodic Adjustment of Airline Rentals, Fees and Charges that 

establishes how the airlines will be assessed annual rates and charges for their use of the Airport.  The policy 

includes a methodology for fueling, security and facilities charges.   

 

The Authority also has the ability under the Agreement to adjust airline rates and charges at any time 

throughout the year to ensure adherence to all financial covenants in its bond resolutions.  No such 

adjustments were required during 2020 or 2019.  Airfield landing fees and terminal rental rates billed by the 

Airport are adjusted based on an annual year end settlement calculation for the landing fee and the terminal 

rental rate based on actual income and expenditures allocated to the cost centers.   

 

The airline cost per enplanement calculated after the settlement of all rates and charges was $17.62 in 2020 

and $17.73 in 2019.   

 

Capital Acquisitions and Construction Activities 

 

The Authority expended $37.0 million on capital assets in 2020 and $16.5 million in 2019.  In 2020, this 

included major construction projects, most notably: $11.6 million for Taxiway Charlie construction, $10.7 

million for Taxiway Echo rehabilitation, $6.3 million for the Concourse Roof & Fascia replacement, and 

$1.8 million for the Four Points hotel renovation.  Acquisitions are funded primarily with Federal grants, 

Airport operating revenues and PFC charges.   
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Long Term Debt Administration 

 

A summary of the bonds payable by the Authority and outstanding payable from airport operations or, in the 

case of the PFC bonds, the PFC charges, were as follows: 

 
Issue / Interest Rates June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 

    

Airport Revenue Bonds–2010-A /2.0-4.4% $3,690,000  $4,530,000  $5,340,000 

Airport Revenue Bonds–2010-B /2.5-4.25% 0  380,000  805,000 

Airport Revenue Bonds–2016 /2.51% 11,725,000  12,555,000  13,365,000 

PFC Bond-2017 /1.98% 7,573,498  8,885,134  10,171,777 

    

 Total Face Amount of Airport Bonds $22,988,498  $26,350,134  $29,681,777 

    

 

Credit Rating and Bond Insurance 

 

Moody’s Investors Service has assigned a rating of A3 on the Authority’s outstanding Revenue Bonds, with 

a stable outlook.  The 2010-A and 2010-B Issues are insured by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.   

 

Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) 

 

The Authority collected a PFC of $4.50 per enplaned passenger. During the current year, the Authority 

collected a total of $2.5 million in PFCs; $2.6 million was collected in 2019.  Passengers pay PFCs on the 

first two and last two portions of any trip.  No PFCs are collected from non-revenue passengers such as a 

passenger using a frequent flier award ticket.  PFCs are used for expenditures approved by FAA based upon 

formal request by the Authority.  For further details, see the Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges in the 

Compliance Section of this report. 

 

Financial Statements 

 

The Authority’s financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  The 

Authority’s operating activities are structured as a single enterprise fund with revenues recognized when 

earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.  Capital assets are capitalized and (except land) are 

depreciated over their useful lives.  Amounts are restricted for debt service, passenger facility charges, FAA 

expenditures and, where applicable, for construction activities.  See the notes to the financial statements for 

a summary of the Authority’s significant accounting policies. 

 

Request for Information 

 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is designed to provide information about the Authority’s 

operations to those with an interest in the Authority’s financial affairs.  Questions concerning any of the 

information provided in this report or any request for additional information should be addressed to the Chief 

Financial Officer at 256-772-9395. 

 

 

 



HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

2020 2019

Current Assets

Cash and investments (Notes A & C) $ 43,570,977 $ 47,465,321

Accounts receivable, net allowance for doubtful accounts 1,335,082 2,708,441

Investment interest receivable 256,489 286,211

Grants receivable 10,109,265 8,321,640

Inventories 724,848 750,221

Prepaid expenses 386,289 401,148

Total Current Assets 56,382,950 59,932,982

Restricted Assets

Restricted cash and short-term investments 17,995,889 11,208,266

Total Restricted Assets 17,995,889 11,208,266

Property and Equipment (Note A & H)

Land 47,392,284 48,837,315

Structures and improvements 433,993,930 426,760,351

Furniture and equipment 29,084,620 20,184,511

Construction in progress 39,952,377 24,880,667

Total 550,423,211 520,662,844

Less:  Accumulated depreciation 225,962,272 216,079,882

Total Property and Equipment 324,460,939 304,582,962

Other Assets 

Net pension asset (Note F) 0 1,237,639

Total Other Assets 0 1,237,639

Total Assets 398,839,778 376,961,849

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Losses on debt refundings 68,703 91,604

Deferred outflows related to OPEB 404,812 179,589

Deferred outflows related to pension 1,507,484 1,499,119

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,980,999 1,770,312

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 400,820,777 $ 378,732,161

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

See notes to financial statements.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

2020 2019

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 5,486,624 $ 5,302,481

Accrued expenses 1,778,051 1,825,095

Retainage payable 2,644,204 2,799,509

Unearned income and deposits 58,478 49,552

Total Current Liabilities 9,967,357 9,976,637

Current Liabilities Payable From Restricted Assets (Note D)

Accrued interest 225,137 258,853

Current portion of long-term debt 3,057,842 3,361,635

Total Current Liabilities Payable From Restricted Assets 3,282,979 3,620,488

Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion (Note D)

Bonds payable 19,930,656 22,988,499

Total Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion 19,930,656 22,988,499

Other Liabilities

Net pension liability (Note F) 80,919 0

Net OPEB liability (Note L) 1,899,330 1,751,662

Total Other Liabilities 1,980,249 1,751,662

Total Liabilities 35,161,241 38,337,286

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows related to OPEB 22,155 0

Deferred inflows related to pension 460,165 1,462,987

Deferred inflows - land sales 749,700 0

Warranty deposit held 0 150,000

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,232,020 1,612,987

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 301,472,441 278,232,828

Restricted for:

Debt service 3,892,406 4,371,913

Passenger facility charges 3,014,979 1,933,116

FAA expenditures 8,069,669 3,618,319

Other grants 50,000 50,000

Capital projects 2,793,698 604,022

Unrestricted 45,134,323 49,971,690

Total Net Position 364,427,516 338,781,888

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

AND NET POSITION $ 400,820,777 $ 378,732,161

See notes to financial statements.

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION
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2020

Operating Revenue

Airport $ 28,205,097 $ 32,218,473

Industrial Park 93,800 90,800

Hotel 3,033,250 4,641,756

Other 54,000 46,500

Total Operating Revenue 31,386,147 36,997,529

Operating Expenses

Airport 15,938,513 15,448,012

Industrial Park 663,766 800,174

Hotel 2,736,125 3,780,627

Other 433,407 440,062

Total Operating Expenses 19,771,811 20,468,875

Excess of Operating Revenue 11,614,336 16,528,654

Depreciation 15,658,150 14,570,127

Operating Income (Loss) (4,043,814) 1,958,527

Other Revenue and Expenses

Interest income - Airport Operations 357,752 360,377

Interest income - Industrial Park 300,384 299,909

Interest expense (637,245) (760,126)

Gain (loss) on sale of land and equipment 2,482,827 (584,357)

Federal grants (Note A) 25,394,306 14,378,428

State grants 66,151 91,867

Other grants 2,743 20,768

Passenger facility charges 2,537,420 2,591,121

Interest income on passenger facility charges 20,040 20,108

Other revenue and expense items (834,936) (3,839,707)

Change in Net Position $ 25,645,628 $ 14,536,915

2019

See notes to financial statements.

HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

2020 2019

Net Position, Beginning of Year $ 338,781,888 $ 326,274,214

Prior Period Adjustment (Note M) 0 (2,029,241)

Net Position, Beginning of Year, Restated 338,781,888 324,244,973

Change in Net Position 25,645,628 14,536,915

Net Position, End of Year $ 364,427,516 $ 338,781,888

See notes to financial statements.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Received from customers $ 32,586,385 $ 36,961,812

Paid to suppliers for goods and services (8,232,152) (10,874,471)

Paid for employee services (10,660,164) (10,287,185)

Other receipts / (payments) (77,038) (105,388)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by

     Operating Activities 13,617,031 15,694,768

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities: 0 0

Cash Flows from Capital Financing Activities:

Federal, state and local grants 23,675,575 11,240,823

Passenger facility charges 2,537,420 2,591,121

Interest earned on passenger facility charges 20,149 20,571

Principal paid on bonds (3,361,636) (3,331,643)

Interest paid on long-term debt (648,060) (738,596)

Proceeds from sale of equipment 4,001,814 0

Capital outlay (38,386,464) (20,163,609)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by

     Capital Financing Activities (12,161,202) (10,381,333)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Interest income 687,750 558,786

Net (funding) receipt of restricted passenger facilities charges cash (1,081,863) 735,734

Net (funding) receipt of restricted deposits (4,956,060) (370,217)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by

     Investing Activities (5,350,173) 924,303

Net change in cash and investments (3,894,344) 6,237,738

Cash and investments at beginning of year 47,465,321 41,227,583

Cash and investments at end of year $ 43,570,977 $ 47,465,321

Noncash transactions:

Write-off of capital assets $ 29,453

See notes to financial statements.

2020 2019
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Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating Income (Loss) $ (4,043,814) $ 1,958,527

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to

     net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 15,658,150 14,570,127

Other receipts/payments (77,038) (105,388)

Capitalized wages (293,449) (392,331)

Changes in assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities

     and deferred inflows of resources

Accounts receivable 1,350,238 (35,717)

Accounts payable 904,664 (243,838)

Accrued liabilities (47,044) 142,866

Prepaid items 14,859 (45,889)

Inventory 25,373 (20,031)

Deferred inflows (150,000) 0

Pension items 455,039 (115,977)

OPEB items (179,947) (17,581)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by

     Operating Activities $ 13,617,031 $ 15,694,768

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

2020 2019

See notes to financial statements.

- 13 -

HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED



HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

2020 2019

ASSETS

Cash $ 511 $ 4,137

Interest/dividends receivable 317 1,087

Contributions receivable 26,716 3,595

Investments, fair value

Bond mutual funds 857,920 809,495

Total Assets 885,464 818,314

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 0 0

Total Liabilities 0 0

NET POSITION

Net position - restricted for other post-employment benefits $ 885,464 $ 818,314

See notes to financial statements.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

2020 2019

Additions

Contributions:

Employer $ 178,558 $ 168,137

Plan members 73,555 63,286

Total contributions 252,113 231,423

Investment earnings/(loss) 48,837 40,852

Less investment expenses 4,810 4,571

Net investment earnings 44,027 36,281

Total Additions 296,140 267,704

Deductions

Benefits 228,990 188,787

Total Deductions 228,990 188,787

Change in Net Position 67,150 78,917

Net Position, Beginning of Year 818,314 739,397

Net Position, End of Year $ 885,464 $ 818,314

See notes to financial statements.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 

 

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES    
 

 Organization and Reporting Entity - The Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority (the 

Authority), a public corporation, applied for and received permission to reincorporate on October 10, 1991, 

under Title 4 of the Code of Alabama, 1975 as amended in the 1991 session.  The Authority consists of a 

five-member Board of Directors, of which two are appointed by the City Council of Huntsville, Alabama, 

two by the Madison County Commission and one jointly by the City Council and County Commission. The 

Authority is considered an enterprise fund that has financial accountability over the Huntsville International 

Airport and is the primary government for reporting purposes.  The Authority is not considered a 

component unit of any other governmental reporting entity.  In addition, there are no component units over 

which the Authority exercises control.  Fiduciary fund financial statements are presented for the activities 

of the Authority’s post-retirement medical benefits plan, which accumulates resources for post-employment 

benefit payments to qualified employees. 
 

 The Authority has three operating categories for presentation purposes.  Airport operations include 

all terminal and airport activity as it relates to the Authority's public airport operations.  The Industrial Park 

includes investments and property that are leased or held for future development of industrial and 

commercial tenants engaged in activities unrelated to the Authority's public airport operations.  As 

described in Note G, financing leases with the industrial park tenants are not recorded in the Authority’s 

financial statements.  The Four Points Hotel is owned by the Authority and operated by a managing agent 

as described in Note E. 
 

The financial section of the financial statements consists of five parts - management's discussion 

and analysis, the independent auditors' report, the basic financial statements, required supplemental 

information, and other supplemental information.      
 

Accounting Principles - The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted 

standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.   
 

Revenue - Revenue is recognized as billed to airport users based on usage rates or rental 

agreements adopted by the Authority's Board.  Related expenditures are charged against revenue when 

incurred. 
 

Reserve for Doubtful Accounts - A reserve for doubtful accounts is established for those 

accounts considered, by management, to be doubtful of collection.  At June 30, 2020 and 2019, $60,444 

and $46,507 have been reserved as doubtful.        
 

 Passenger Facility Charges - Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) are recognized as collected.  

Accrual of PFC revenue is not reasonably measurable; therefore, no accrued PFC revenue is recognized. 
 

Governmental Grants – Grant proceeds are recognized as revenue in the current year.  Most 

FAA grants are for capital project purposes and are recognized in revenues and as additions to assets.  

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Authority was awarded a Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 

Security Act (CARES Act) grant through the FAA for reimbursement of operational and maintenance 

expenses and debt service payments.  These grants are accrued as partial completion of grant requirements 

are met, and grant proceeds receivable are credited directly as grant income. 
 

Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, on a first in, first out basis. 
 

Advertising – Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. 
 

Investments - The Authority is legally authorized to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and 

securities of federal agencies. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 
 

 

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - The Authority has deferred outflows and inflows of 

resources.  Deferred outflows of resources is a consumption of assets by the Authority that is applicable to 

a future reporting period and consist of employer pension contributions subsequent to the September 30, 

2019, measurement date, other pension-related deferred outflows, OPEB-related deferred outflows, and 

losses on refundings of debt.  Deferred inflows of resources is an acquisition of assets by the Authority that 

is applicable to a future reporting period and consist of a warranty deposit held, contingent land sale 

proceeds, pension-related deferred inflows, and OPEB-related deferred inflows. 
 

 Net Position – Net position on the Statement of Net Position includes the following: 
 

 Net Investment in Capital Assets – The component of net position that reports the difference 

between capital assets less both the accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balance of debt that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of these capital assets. 
    

Restricted for Debt Service – The component of net position that represents amounts required by 

debt covenants to be separated for debt service.   
  

Restricted for Passenger Facility Charges – The component of net position that represents 

passenger facility charge revenue in excess of expenditures. 
  

Restricted for FAA Expenditures – Land sales from land purchased with PFC, FAA noise or other 

federal funds are designated as restricted until proceeds are used for FAA-approved expenditures. 
 

Restricted for Other Grants – The component of net position that represents amounts restricted by 

grant requirements.   
  

Restricted for Capital Projects – The component of net position that represents revenue collected 

from airlines that is restricted for capital projects.   
 

Unrestricted – Net position that is not reported in Net Investment in Capital Assets or Restricted 

Net Position. 

 

 Airport Property and Equipment- Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated 

depreciation.  Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 

lives of the related assets.  Estimated useful lives of plant and equipment items range from 40 years for 

buildings, 20 to 40 years for roads and field improvements, and 3 to 10 years for furniture and equipment.  

Land is not depreciated. 
 

 Interest costs relating to airport construction are capitalized during the construction period.  Costs 

related to development of property in the Industrial Park are capitalized as improvements to the property.  

No interest was capitalized during the current period.   
 

 Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations in the period incurred.  The costs and 

accumulated depreciation of properties disposed of are removed from the related asset accounts and the 

difference is recorded as an expense in the period of disposition. 
 

Pensions - The Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (the Plan) financial statements are 

prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. Contributions 

are recognized as revenues when earned, pursuant to the plan requirements. Benefits and refunds are 

recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Expenses are recognized when 

the corresponding liability is incurred, regardless of when the payment is made. Investments are reported 

at fair value. Financial statements are prepared in accordance with requirements of the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Under these requirements, the Plan is considered a component unit 

of the State of Alabama and is included in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 
 

 

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB) - The Post-Retirement Medical Plan 

financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of 

accounting. This includes for purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources 

and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary 

net position of the Trust and additions to/deductions from the Trust’s fiduciary net position. Plan member 

and employer contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Benefits are 

recognized when due and payable.  
 

Annual leave accruals – A liability is recorded at June 30 for accrued vacation, accrued salaries 

and the estimated portion of accrued sick leave to be paid to employees at retirement.  The liability is based 

on personnel policies for vacation and sick leave.   
 

 Statement of Cash Flows - For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Board considers all 

highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents, except 

restricted funds.   
 

 Estimates – Preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles requires use of management’s estimates.  Management has made estimates related to 

accruals of revenues and expenses.   
 

 

NOTE B - COVID-19 IMPACTS 
  

 The World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a public health emergency on 

January 30, 2020.  The spread of COVID-19 has negatively impacted the Authority’s operating results and 

financial position.  During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Authority was awarded a CARES Act grant in 

the amount of $13,785,691.  The grant may be used for reimbursement of operational and maintenance 

expenses and debt service payments.  At June 30, 2020, grant funds of $4,711,311 have been expended and 

are recognized as federal grants in the Statement of Revenue and Expenses.  Funds of $9,074,380 remain 

available. 
 

 

NOTE C - CASH, INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED TRUST FUNDS  
 

 At June 30, 2020 and 2019, unrestricted deposits on hand at banks and in certificates of deposit 

were fully collateralized by banks qualifying under the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Act 

(SAFE) as qualified public depositories.  Funds held by the banks' trust departments or agents are invested 

in U.S. Government securities or are secured by U.S. Government Securities. 
 

The unrestricted funds may be invested at the discretion of the Authority in accordance with state 

law.  The Authority has invested $20,000,000 in certificates of deposit as of June 30, 2020, as follows: 

            

 The Authority has invested $17,854,408 in certificates of deposit as of June 30, 2019, as follows: 

 

 The restricted funds may be invested at the discretion of the Authority in accordance with state 

law and the related trust indentures.   The restricted trust funds are invested by their respective trustees (as 

authorized by related trust indentures).    Funds invested in the trustee's U.S. Government security money  
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Amount  Interest rate  Maturity Date  Amount  Interest Rate  Maturity Date 

$5,000,000  1.60%  03/09/2021  $5,000,000  2.08%  07/25/2020 

5,000,000  1.60%  03/09/2021  5,000,000  2.08%  07/25/2020 

Amount  Interest rate  Maturity Date  Amount  Interest Rate  Maturity Date 

$2,568,418  2.46%  07/15/2019  $2,572,524  2.46%  07/15/2019 

2,568,418  2.46%  07/15/2019  2,572,524  2.46%  07/15/2019 

5,000,000  2.56%  07/24/2019  2,572,524  2.46%  07/15/2019 



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

 

 

NOTE C - CASH, INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED TRUST FUNDS (CONTINUED) 

 

market accounts and other U.S. Government secured investments are part of the funds held by trustees.     

 

  June 30, 2020  June 30, 2019 

Unrestricted       

Cash and short-term savings   $ 23,570,977  $ 29,610,913 

Certificates of deposit   20,000,000   17,854,408 

  $ 43,570,977  $ 47,465,321 

       

Restricted cash and short-term investments       

Trust funds, Airport Operations   $ 4,117,543  $ 4,630,766 

Warranty deposit held   0   152,314 

FAA land   8,069,669   3,888,048 

Passenger facility charges   3,014,979   1,933,116 

Capital projects   2,793,698   604,022 

  $ 17,995,889  $ 11,208,266 

 

Market value equals carrying value for these unrestricted and restricted accounts.  When the 

Authority incurs an expenditure for which it may use either restricted or unrestricted assets, restricted assets 

are used.   

 

The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established 

by generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 

measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; 

Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable input.  

The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2020:  Bond mutual fund 

investments, held by the Post-Employment Benefits Trust, of $857,920 are valued using quoted market 

prices (Level 1 inputs); restricted bond funds invested in short-term U.S. Treasury Obligations of 

$2,133,019 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).  The Authority has the following 

recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019:  Bond mutual fund investments, held by the Post-

Employment Benefits Trust, of $809,495 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs); restricted 

bond funds invested in short-term U.S. Treasury Obligations of $2,329,804 are valued using quoted market 

prices (Level 1 inputs).   

  

Post-Employment Benefits Trust 

 

 Investments - Post-Employment Benefits Trust investments at June 30, 2020 and 2019, are 

detailed below.   

 

Mutual Fund Sector  June 30, 2020  June 30, 2019 

Mortgage-backed  $502,135   $475,253 

Treasury / Agency  244,421   229,473 

Corporate  74,826   70,411 

Other  36,538   34,358 

  $857,920  $809,495 
 

 Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect 

the fair value of an investment. The fair value of fixed-maturity investments fluctuates in response to 

changes in market interest rates. Increases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases in 

fair value of those instruments.  Interest rate risk is as follows: 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

 

 

NOTE C - CASH, INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED TRUST FUNDS (CONTINUED) 

 

Maturity (in years)  June 30, 2020  June 30, 2019 

0 – 1  $37,737   $24,235 

1 – 3  192,335   125,589 

3 – 5  149,923   98,587 

5 – 10  115,786   75,661 

10 – 20  82,659   86,158 

More than 20  279,480   399,265 

  $857,920   $809,495 
 

 Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 

the holder of the investment. Nationally recognized statistical rating organizations provide ratings of debt 

securities’ quality based on a variety of factors, such as the financial condition of the issuers, which provide 

investors with some idea of the issuer’s ability to meet its obligations.  Credit risk is as follows: 

 

Standard & Poor’s Ratings  June 30, 2020  June 30, 2019 

AAA  $781,793   $737,691 

AA  23,046   21,503 

A  24,302   23,029 

BBB  28,779   27,272 

  $857,920   $809,495 
 

 Concentration of Credit Risk – The mutual funds owned by the Trust included held securities of 

the Federal National Mortgage Association and Federal Home Loan Bank that each indirectly represent 

more than five percent of the total assets of the Trust. 

 

 

NOTE D - LONG-TERM DEBT  

 

 A summary of the bonds payable by the Authority and outstanding at June 30, 2020 and 2019, 

from airport operations, or in the case of the PFC bonds, the PFC charges, are as follows: 

 

 

Issue 

 June 30, 

2019 

  

Additions 

 Deletions and 

Reclassifications 

 June 30, 

2020 

Airport Revenue Bonds:         

   Series 2010-A $ 4,530,000 $ 0 $ (840,000) $ 3,690,000 

   Series 2010-B  380,000  0  (380,000)  0 

   Series 2016  12,555,000  0  (830,000)  11,725,000 

  17,465,000  0  (2,050,000)  15,415,000 

Direct Placement:         

   PFC Bond – 2017  8,885,134  0  (1,311,636)  7,573,498 

     Total Face Amount of         

           Airport Bonds  26,350,134  0  (3,361,636)  22,988,498 

Unamortized Premium/(Discount)  0  0  0  0 

      Total Long-Term Debt          

            per Financial Statements  26,350,134  0  (3,361,636)  22,988,498 

Less Current Portion  (3,361,635)  0  303,793  (3,057,842) 

         

Net Long-Term Debt $ 22,988,499 $ 0 $ (3,057,843) $ 19,930,656 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 

 

NOTE D - LONG -TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

 

 

Issue 

 June 30, 

2018 

  

Additions 

 Deletions and 

Reclassifications 

 June 30, 

2019 

Airport Revenue Bonds:         

   Series 2010-A $ 5,340,000 $ 0 $ (810,000) $ 4,530,000 

   Series 2010-B  805,000  0  (425,000)  380,000 

   Series 2016  13,365,000  0  (810,000)  12,555,000 

  19,510,000  0  (2,045,000)  17,465,000 

Direct Placement:         

   PFC Bond – 2017  10,171,777  0  (1,286,643)  8,885,134 

     Total Face Amount of         

           Airport Bonds  29,681,777  0  (3,331,643)  26,350,134 

Unamortized Premium/(Discount)  0  0  0  0 

      Total Long-Term Debt          

            per Financial Statements  29,681,777  0  (3,331,643)  26,350,134 

Less Current Portion  (3,222,805)  0  (138,830)  (3,361,635) 

         

Net Long-Term Debt $ 26,458,972 $ 0 $ (3,470,473) $ 22,988,499 

 

In April 2016, the Authority issued Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2016 for $14,150,000.  

Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2016 Bonds were used to currently refund Airport Revenue Bonds 

Series 2006.  The Series 2016 Bonds were issued under the Ninth Supplemental Trust Indenture, which 

states additional requirements regarding funding of special trust funds originally created under the 1989 

Trust Indenture, including a debt service reserve account.  The purpose of the reserve fund is to provide a 

reserve in the event that revenues and receipts derived from the Authority are insufficient to pay the 

principal of and interest on the bonds. 

 

In December 2010, the Authority issued Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2010-A for $10,175,000 

and Series 2010-B for $3,310,000.  Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2010-A Bonds were used to pay 

the cost of refunding the Authority's Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 and the costs of issuing the Series 

2010-A Bonds.  Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2010-B Bonds were used to pay the cost of refunding 

the Authority's Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 and the costs of issuing the Series 2010-B Bonds.  The 

Series 2010-A Bonds and Series 2010-B Bonds were issued under the Eighth Supplemental Trust 

Indenture, which states additional requirements regarding funding of special trust funds originally created 

under the 1989 Trust Indenture. The Series 2010-B bonds fully matured in the year ended June 30, 2020. 

 

The Series 2016 and Series 2010-A Airport Revenue Bonds will be payable solely out of the 

pledged revenues derived from operation of the airport remaining after payment of operating expenses as 

defined in the indenture.  The indenture does not constitute a mortgage on any of the physical properties 

forming a part of the airport.  None of the Bonds are general obligations of the Authority and do not 

constitute a personal charge against the general credit of the Authority.  In an event of default, the principal 

and interest accrued may be declared immediately due and payable. 

 

 The Series 2016 Bonds are nontaxable bonds with a stated rate of 2.51% and with maturities 

ranging from July 1, 2017, to July 1, 2031.  The Series 2010-A Bonds are nontaxable bonds with stated 

rates ranging from 2.0% to 4.5% and with maturities ranging from July 1, 2011, to July 1, 2023.   

 

 

 

 

- 21 - 



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

 

 

NOTE D - LONG -TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 

 The Series 2016 Bonds shall be subject to redemption and payment, at the option of the Authority, 

on any date at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued interest.  The Series 2010-

A Bonds having a stated maturity in 2021 and thereafter shall be subject to redemption and payment, at the 

option of the Authority, on July 1, 2020, and on any date thereafter at a redemption price of 100% of the 

principal amount, plus accrued interest.     
 

 In November 2017, the Authority issued its 2017 PFC Bond for $11,014,607 for the purpose of 

redeeming the 2010 PFC Bond and paying the costs of issuing the 2017 PFC Bond.  The 2017 PFC Bond is 

a nontaxable bond with a stated rate of 1.98%, payable solely out of PFC collections in monthly payments 

of $122,975 through December 1, 2025.  This Bond does not constitute a lien on, nor is it payable from, 

any other property or assets of the Authority.  The principal of this Bond is subject to redemption and 

payment on or after November 1, 2022, at the option of the Authority, at the redemption price of 100%. 
 

 In November 2010, the Authority issued its 2010 PFC Bond for $18,000,000 for the purpose of 

additions to and renovation of the baggage claim area and payment of certain costs of issuance.  The 2010 

PFC Bond is a nontaxable bond with a stated rate of 3.75%, payable solely out of PFC collections in 

monthly payments of $130,900 through December 1, 2025.  The 2010 PFC Bonds were redeemed in the 

year ended June 30, 2018. 
 

Bond insurance costs paid related to bond issues are recognized as expense in the period incurred. 

 

            The Series 2010 PFC Bonds were redeemed in fiscal year 2018, with no economic gain or loss.  

There are no past current refunding transactions for which the refunded warrants are still outstanding at 

June 30, 2020 or 2019.  Losses realized on prior advance refundings are being amortized over the shorter of 

the life of the refunded or refunding debt.  Unamortized losses on refundings are reported as the deferred 

outflows in the statement of net position. 

 

 The Series 1989 Trust Indenture, as supplemented by nine supplemental indentures, creates special 

trust funds.  All pledged revenues are required to be deposited as received into the Revenue Fund, and 

moneys in such fund are required to be applied and allocated on a monthly basis in the manner and priority 

established by the Indentures.  Funding requirements at June 30, 2020 and 2019, have been met as set forth 

in the Indentures.  The special funds and their balances are as follows: 

  2020  2019 

Rebate Fund  $ 128,192  $ 126,555 

Bond Fund   2,133,021   2,543,781 

Debt Service Reserve Fund   1,856,330   1,960,430 

       

     Restricted Trust Funds (Airport Operations)  $ 4,117,543  $ 4,630,766 

       

Operating Reserve Account (Considered Unrestricted)  $ 3,127,362  $ 3,123,877 

       

Revenue Fund (Considered Unrestricted)  $ 5,653,536  $ 13,058,143 

 

The Indentures also require the Authority to maintain adequate rates and charges in a manner that 

produces Net Revenues (as described therein) of not less than 1.25 times the current Annual Debt Service 

Requirement in the year that ends on July 1 each year, on all bonds issued under the Indenture. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

 
NOTE D - LONG -TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

 

Maturities for the Bonds due over the next five and succeeding fiscal years are as follows: 
 

  2010-A  2017 PFC  2016  Total 

2021 $ 870,000 $ 1,337,842 $ 850,000 $ 3,057,842 

2022  900,000  1,364,569  870,000  3,134,569 

2023  940,000  1,391,834  890,000  3,221,834 

2024  980,000  1,419,644  915,000  3,314,644 

2025  0  1,448,010  935,000  2,383,010 

Succeeding  0  611,599  7,265,000  7,876,599 

 $ 3,690,000 $ 7,573,498 $ 11,725,000 $ 22,988,498 

 

 Principal and interest payments for the Bonds due over their remaining lives are as follows: 
 

Fiscal  Series 2010-A  Series 2017 PFC 

Year  Principal  Interest  Principal  Interest 

2021 $ 870,000 $ 138,575 $ 1,337,842 $ 137,862 

2022  900,000  102,614  1,364,569  111,131 

2023  940,000  64,075  1,391,834  83,866 

2024  980,000  22,050  1,419,644  56,056 

2025  0  0  1,448,010  27,690 

2026  0  0  611,599  3,032 

Total $ 3,690,000 $ 327,314 $ 7,573,498 $ 419,637 

 
 

Fiscal  Series 2016  Total 

Year  Principal  Interest  Principal  Interest 

2021 $ 850,000 $ 283,630 $ 3,057,842 $ 560,067 

2022  870,000  262,044  3,134,569  475,789 

2023  890,000  239,956  3,221,834  387,897 

2024  915,000  217,303  3,314,644  295,409 

2025  935,000  194,086  2,383,010  221,776 

2026  965,000  170,241  1,576,599  173,273 

2027  985,000  145,768  985,000  145,768 

2028  1,010,000  120,731  1,010,000  120,731 

2029  1,035,000  95,066  1,035,000  95,066 

2030  1,065,000  68,711  1,065,000  68,711 

2031  1,085,000  41,729  1,085,000  41,729 

2032  1,120,000  14,056  1,120,000  14,056 

Total $ 11,725,000 $ 1,853,321 $ 22,988,498 $ 2,600,272 

 

 

NOTE E - OPERATING CONTRACTS AND LEASES 
 

 The Authority has issued a rate ordinance with the air carriers, which, among other provisions, 

requires the airline to pay landing fees based upon the total landing weight of all aircraft landed.  The 

ordinance also sets rates for counter space, loading bridges, and fuel flowage required at the airport by the 

airline in its conduct of air transportation.  Rates are determined based upon a formula that covers expenses, 

debt service, and capital expenditures.   
 

 The Authority has entered into lease agreements with rental car agencies that include charges 

based upon revenue and space requirements.   Minimum annual lease payment requirements in the leases 

total $450,000 per year.  However, actual payments are based upon revenue of the lessee if it exceeds the 

minimum payment. Total lease payments in 2020 were $2.1 million; total lease payments in 2019 were 

$2.6 million.  Although the minimum annual amounts are $450,000, because of the COVID-19 impact, 

future minimum payments may be amended.  As of September 30, 2020, the annualized lease payments 

were $1.2 million. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 
 

 

NOTE E - OPERATING CONTRACTS AND LEASES (CONTINUED) 
 

 The Authority has entered into lease agreements with air cargo tenants for space in its air cargo 

storage facilities.  The current minimum annual lease payments provided in the lease agreements total $2.6 

million.  Lease agreements are from one to fifteen-year periods with certain leases containing options for 

further rental.   
 

 The Authority has entered into lease agreements with tenants for space in the terminal and 

concourse.  The lease agreement for one tenant requires minimum lease payments of $70,000 per year 

through 2019 and $90,000 per year thereafter, and includes payment of a percentage of the revenue earned, 

if the amount exceeds the minimum lease payment.  Total lease payments in 2020 were $190,000; total 

lease payments in 2019 were $213,000.    Another tenant has a minimum annual lease requirement of 

$99,000 and includes monthly payments based on the number of enplaned passengers, if the amount 

exceeds the minimum lease payment.  Total lease payments in 2020 were $118,000; total lease payments in 

2019 were $146,000.  Because of the COVID-19 impact, future lease payments may be significantly below 

the amounts in 2020.  The Authority has an agreement with the United States of America for 

Transportation Security Administration space that requires annual lease payments of $214,799. Smaller 

spaces in the terminal and concourse are leased at fixed monthly amounts.  Total lease payments in 2020 

were $50,100; total lease payments in 2019 were $65,200. 
      

 The Authority has also entered into an agreement with a fixed base operator to operate fixed base 

air service from the facility located on the airport. The fixed based operator agreement states minimum 

annual lease payments, indexed for inflation with the current rate being about $406,000.  The Authority has 

entered into separate operating and lease agreements with individuals related to use of hangars located at 

the airport based upon rate charges determined by the Authority.  Total lease payments in 2020 were 

$337,000; total lease payments in 2019 were $303,000. 
 

The Authority has entered into a variety of other leases for land and space in various buildings, 

which require annual lease payments of $130,000. 
 

The Authority has entered into an operating agreement with Norfolk Southern Railway Company.  

The agreement, among other requirements, provides for payment of a fee per lift to the Intermodal Center 

for items transported by railroad under a revenue weigh bill.   
 

 The Authority has entered into a license agreement with The Sheraton LLC, a subsidiary of 

Marriott International, Inc., to operate the Authority's hotel facilities as the Four Points by Sheraton.  The 

expiration of the agreement is December 31, 2030.  The agreement requires certain franchise and marketing 

payments based on revenues.  The Authority has entered into an agreement with a management company to 

manage the operations of the hotel, under which the Authority is obligated to pay the management 

company a base fee equal to three percent of revenue, and an incentive fee equal to fifty percent of the 

hotel's net operating profit as defined by the agreement. The initial term of the contract expired December 

31, 2015, and has three five-year options to extend to December 31, 2030.  On January 1, 2021, the second 

option period will commence. 

 
NOTE F - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN  

 

General Information about the Pension Plan  
 

Plan description - The Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (ERS), an agency multiple-

employer plan, was established October 1, 1945, pursuant to the Code of Alabama 1975, Title 36, Chapter 

27 (Act 515 of the Legislature of 1945). The purpose of the ERS is to provide retirement allowances and 

other specified benefits for state employees, State Police, and on an elective basis, to all cities, counties, 

towns and quasi-public organizations. The responsibility for the general administration and operation of 

ERS is vested in its Board of Control which consists of 13 trustees.     The Plan is administered by the 
Retirement Systems of Alabama (RSA).   The Code of Alabama 1975, Title 36, Chapter 27 grants the 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED 

 

 

NOTE F - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 

 

authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the ERS Board of Control. The Plan issues a publicly 

available financial report that can be obtained at www.rsa-al.gov.   

 

Benefits provided - State law establishes retirement benefits as well as death and disability 

benefits and any ad hoc increase in postretirement benefits for the ERS. Benefits for ERS members vest 

after 10 years of creditable service.  Local employees who retire after age 60 with 10 years or more of 

creditable service or with 25 or 30 years of service (regardless of age), depending on the particular entity’s 

election, are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Service and disability 

retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum or a formula method, with the member receiving 

payment under the method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, members of 

the ERS are allowed 2.0125% of their average final compensation (highest 3 of the last 10 years) for each 

year of service.  

 

Act 377 of the Legislature of 2012 established a new tier of benefits (Tier 2) for members hired on 

or after January 1, 2013. Tier 2 ERS members are eligible for retirement after age 62 with 10 years or more 

of creditable service and are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Service and 

disability retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum or a formula method, with the member 

receiving payment under the method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, 

Tier 2 members of the ERS are allowed 1.65% of their average final compensation (highest 5 of the last 10 

years) for each year of service.  

 

Members are eligible for disability retirement if they have 10 years of credible service, are 

currently in-service, and determined by the RSA Medical Board to be permanently incapacitated from 

further performance of duty. Preretirement death benefits equal to the annual earnable compensation of the 

member as reported to the Plan for the preceding year ending September 30 are paid to the beneficiary.  
 

 Employees covered by benefit terms – At September 30, 2018, the following employees were 

covered by the benefit terms: 

Retired members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 43 

Vested inactive members 5 

Non-vested inactive members 9 

Active members 117 

 174 

  

Contributions - Covered members of the ERS contribute 5% of earnable compensation to the 

ERS as required by statute. Certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS 

contribute 6% of earnable compensation as required by statute.  

 

Tier 2 covered members of the ERS contribute 6% of earnable compensation to the ERS as 

required by statute. Tier 2 certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS are 

required by statute to contribute 7% of earnable compensation.  

 

The ERS establishes rates based upon an actuarially determined rate recommended by an 

independent actuary.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs 

of benefits earned by employees during the year, with additional amounts to finance any unfunded 
accrued liability,  the pre-retirement death benefit and administrative expenses of the Plan.    For the year 
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ended June 30, 2020, the Authority’s average active employee contribution rate was 2.55% of covered 

employee payroll, and the Authority’s average contribution rate to fund the normal and accrued liability 

costs was 2.19% of pensionable payroll.   

 

The Authority’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2020, was 

3.27% of pensionable pay for Tier 1 employee and 1.26% of pensionable pay for Tier 2 employees from 

July 1, 2019, through September 30, 2019, and 3.32% of pensionable pay for Tier 1 employees and 1.18% 

of pensionable pay for Tier 2 employees from October 1, 2019, through June 30, 2020.  The Authority’s 

contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2019, was 5.01% of pensionable pay for 

Tier 1 employee and 2.91% of pensionable pay for Tier 2 employees from July 1, 2018, through September 

30, 2018, and 3.27% of pensionable pay for Tier 1 employees and 1.26% of pensionable pay for Tier 2 

employees from October 1, 2018, through June 30, 2019.  These required contribution rates are based upon 

the actuarial valuations dated September 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017, a percent of annual pensionable payroll, 

and actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with member contributions, is expected to 

finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any 

unfunded accrued liability. Total employer contributions to the pension plan from the Authority were 

$180,732 for the year ended June 30, 2019 and $202,569 for the year ended June 30, 2019.  

 

 Net Pension Liability - The Authority’s net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 
2019, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2018, rolled forward to September 30, 2019, using standard roll-
forward techniques as shown in the following table: 

 

  Expected  Actual  

(a) Total Pension Liability as of September 30, 2018 $25,184,125  $25,260,431  

(b) Discount Rate 7.70%  7.70%  

(c) Entry Age Normal Cost for the period     

 October 1, 2018—September 30, 2019 531,969  531,969  

(d) Transfers Among Employers 0  (40,504)  

(e) Actual Benefit Payments and Refunds for the      

 Period October 1, 2018—September 30, 2019 (1,233,439)  (1,233,439)  

(f) Total Pension Liability as of September 30, 2019     

 = [(a) x (1+(b))] + (c) + (d) + [(e) x (1 + 0.5 * (b))] $26,374,345  $26,416,023  

(g) Difference Between Expected & Actual:   $41,678  

(h) Less Liability Transferred for Immediate 

Recognition 

   

(40,504) 

 

(i) Experience (Gain)/Loss = (g) – (h)   $82,182  

 

Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability as of September 30, 2019, was determined 

based on the annual actuarial funding valuation report prepared as of September 30, 2018.  The key 

actuarial assumptions are summarized below:  

 

Inflation 2.75% 

Projected salary increases 3.25% - 5.00% 

Investment rate of return* 7.70% 

*Net of pension plan investment expense  
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 Mortality rates were based on the sex distinct RP-2000 Blue Collar Mortality Table Projected with 

Scale BB to 2020 with an adjustment of 125% at all ages for males and 120% for females ages 78 and 

older. The rates of mortality for the period after disability retirement are according to the sex distinct RP-

2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table Projected with Scale BB to 2020 with an adjustment of 130% at all 

ages for females. 

 

 The actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2017, were based on 

the results of an investigation of the economic and demographic experience for the ERS based upon 

participant data as of September 30, 2015.  The Board of Control accepted and approved these changes in 

September 2016, which became effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2016. 

 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-

normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 

returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 

future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The 

target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are as 

follows: 

 

 Target  Long-Term Expected  

 Allocation  Rate of Return * 

Fixed income 17.00%  4.4% 

U.S. large stocks 32.00%  8.0% 

U.S. mid stocks 9.00%  10.0% 

U.S. small stocks 4.00%  11.0% 

International developed market stocks 12.00%  9.5% 

International emerging market stocks 3.00%  11.0% 

Alternatives 10.00%  10.1% 

Real estate 10.00%  7.5% 

Cash equivalents 3.00%  1.5% 

Total 100.00%   

* Includes assumed rate of inflation of 2.50%    

 

 Discount rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was the long-term rate 

of return, 7.70%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan 

member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that the employer contributions will 

be made in accordance with the funding policy adopted by the ERS Board of Control. Based on those 

assumptions, components of the pension plan’s fiduciary net position were projected to be available to 

make all projected future benefit payments of current pan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate 

of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine 

the total pension liability.  

 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate - The following table 

presents the Authority’s net pension liability/(asset) calculated using the discount rate of 7.70%, as well as 

what the Authority’s net pension liability/(asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 

1-percentage point lower (6.70%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.70%) than the current rate: 
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 1 % Decrease   Current Rate  1% Increase 

 (6.70%)  (7.70%)  (8.70%) 

Authority’s net pension liability (asset) $3,198,546  $80,919  ($2,556,582) 

 

 

Pension plan fiduciary net position - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net 

position is available in the separately issued RSA Comprehensive Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 

September 30, 2019.  The supporting actuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 68 

Report for the ERS prepared as of September 30, 2019.  The auditor’s report dated August 27, 2020, on the 

Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position by Employer and accompanying notes detail by employer 

and in aggregate additional information needed to comply with GASB 68. The additional financial and 

actuarial information is available at http://www.rsa-al.gov/index.php/employers/financial-reports/gasb-68-reports/. 

 

 Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Related to Pensions - For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Authority recognized pension expense of 

$489,853.  For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Authority recognized pension expense of $93,239.  At 

June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 

resources related to pensions of the following sources: 

 

June 30, 2020: 

Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 

 Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience $773,994  $460,165 

Changes of assumptions 301,773  0 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

 pension plan investments 

 

316,570 

  

0 

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 115,147  0 

          Total $1,507,484  $460,165 
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 Changes in Net Pension Liability Increase (Decrease) 

  

Total 

Pension    

Plan 

Fiduciary Net   

Net Pension 

Liability 

  Liability (a)  Position (b)  /(Asset) (a-b) 

     Balances at 9/30/2017 $25,184,125  $26,421,764  ($1,237,639) 

    Changes for the year:         

 Service cost 531,969    531,969 

 Interest 1,891,690    1,891,690 

 Changes of assumptions 0    0 

 Difference between expected & actual experience 82,182    82,182 

 Contributions--employer   149,901  (149,901) 

 Contributions--employee   368,621  (368,621) 

 Net investment income   668,761  (668,761) 

 Benefit payments, including refunds of      

      employee contributions (1,233,439)  (1,233,439)  0 

 Administrative expense   0  0 

 Transfers among employers (40,504)  (40,504)  0 

 Net changes 1,231,898  (86,660)  1,318,558 

 Balances at 9/30/2018 $26,416,023  $26,335,104  $80,919 
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June 30, 2019: 

Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 

 Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience $990,425  $584,534 

Changes of assumptions 398,229  0 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

 pension plan investments 

 

0 

  

878,453 

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 110,465  0 

          Total $1,499,119  $1,462,987 

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources to pensions 

will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:   

2021   $154,108 

2022  196,271 

2023  305,669 

2024  243,139 

2025  27,849 

Thereafter  5,136 
          

 

NOTE G - INDUSTRIAL PARK LEASES 

 

 The Authority has constructed facilities known as the Jetplex Industrial Park (JIP) for the benefit 

of certain industrial tenants and has leased the various facilities under direct financing leases. Revenue 

bonds were issued under various trust indentures which provide, among other things, that the revenues 

received from the leased JIP facilities be pledged for payment of the principal and interest of the applicable 

issue.  The current annual rents are sufficient to cover the annual retirement and interest payments.  The JIP 

financing leases have not been presented in the financial statements. 

  
 

NOTE H - CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY 

 

 Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, follows: 

 
 Balance  Additions  Retirements  Balance 
 July 1,  and CIP  and  June 30, 

 2019  Reclassifications  Reclassifications  2020 

            

Land $ 48,837,315  $ 13,403  $ 1,458,434  $ 47,392,284 
Structures and improvements  426,760,351   12,602,600   5,369,021   433,993,930 

Furniture and equipment  20,184,511   9,287,287   387,178   29,084,620 

Construction in progress  24,880,667   15,071,710   0   39,952,377 

Total at historic cost $ 520,662,844  $ 36,975,000  $ 7,214,633  $ 550,423,211 

            
Less Accumulated            

  Depreciation for:            

Structures and improvements $ 200,081,311  $ 14,081,218  $ 5,364,201  $ 208,798,328 
Furniture and equipment  15,998,571   1,576,932   411,559   17,163,944 

Total accum. depreciation  216,079,882   15,658,150   5,775,760   225,962,272 

            

Capital Assets, Net $ 304,582,962  $ 21,316,850  $ 1,438,873  $ 324,460,939 
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Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2019, follows: 

 
 Restated       

 Balance  Additions  Retirements  Balance 

 July 1,  And CIP  and  June 30, 
 2018  Reclassifications  Reclassifications  2019 

            

Land $ 48,828,951  $ 8,364  $ 0  $ 48,837,315 

Structures and improvements  409,010,858   22,333,487   4,583,994   426,760,351 
Furniture and equipment  18,879,333   1,323,156   17,978   20,184,511 

Construction in progress  32,019,828   (3,488,741)   3,650,420   24,880,667 

Total at historic cost $ 508,738,970  $ 20,176,266  $ 8,252,392  $ 520,662,844 

            

Less Accumulated            
  Depreciation for:            

Structures and improvements $ 190,491,979  $ 13,580,127  $ 3,990,795  $ 200,081,311 

Furniture and equipment  15,026,549   990,000   17,978   15,998,571 

Total accum. depreciation  205,518,528   14,570,127   4,008,773   216,079,882 

            

Capital Assets, Net $ 303,220,442  $ 5,606,139  $ 4,243,619  $ 304,582,962 

 

 

NOTE I - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
 The date through which subsequent events have been evaluated is October 15, 2020.  The financial 

statements were available to be issued at that time.   

 

 As a result of the spread of COVID-19, economic uncertainties have arisen which are likely to 

continue to negatively impact the Authority’s operating results and financial position.  At this time, an 

estimate of the financial statement effect of the event cannot be made. During the year ended June 30, 

2020, the Authority was awarded a CARES Act grant in the amount of $13,785,691.  Funds of $9,074,380 

remain available. 

 

 

NOTE J - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 

At June 30, 2020, the Authority has signed contracts for a number of construction projects.  

Payments and payables of $20.8 million on a $28.8 million contract for Group VI Improvements Phase 4C 

are included in construction in progress at year end.  Payments and payables of $10.2 million on a $10.9 

million contract for Taxiway Echo Rehabilitation are also included in construction in progress at year end.  

Certain of these costs are funded with grants from the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), and the 

remainder from Authority funds, including bond proceeds and PFCs for approved projects.  

 

 The Authority is a party to certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of the business.  In 

management’s opinion, the Authority has adequate legal defenses and/or insurance coverage respecting 

each of these actions and does not believe that they will materially affect the Authority’s operations or 

financial position.  
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 The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 

destruction of assets; and natural disasters.  The Authority has insurance for its buildings and contents 

through commercial insurance.  Settled claims in the past three years, if any, have not exceeded the 

commercial insurance coverage. 

 

 

NOTE L - POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS 

 

Plan description - The Authority has established the Post-Employment Medical Benefits Plan 

(“Plan”) to provide employees and their dependents with health care benefits after retirement.  Under the 

Plan, retirees may purchase health insurance coverage through the Authority’s then current health plan 

insurer. The Plan is a single-employer plan administered by the Authority and its board of directors, for 

which the Authority has established the Post-Employment Benefits Trust (“OPEB Trust”) for the 

accumulation of resources to pay future benefits under the Plan.  The OPEB Trust assets are held and 

managed for the Authority by a financial institution trustee. 

 

Benefits provided - An employee who elects to retire under the State’s retirement system may 

elect health insurance for him/her and any eligible dependent through the health plan insurer.  The 

employee must elect coverage prior to retirement.  The retiree and dependent’s coverage end in the event 

(1) the retiree dies or (2) the retiree no longer elects or is no longer eligible to continue coverage.  The 

retiree and dependents pay a portion of the health plan premiums as determined by the Authority during the 

annual budget, and the Authority pays the balance.  Effective August 1, 2019, the pre-Medicare retiree and 

dependent premium requirement is $243 and $447 per month, respectively.  As of that date, the total 

monthly premium is $953 for the retiree and $1,742 for family coverage.  Upon reaching age 65, the retiree 

and dependents may continue coverage, but the retiree bears the entire cost of the premiums. 

 

OPEB trust - Regarding the OPEB Trust, (a) employer contributions to the plan are irrevocable, 

(b) assets are dedicated to providing benefits to retirees and their beneficiaries, and (c) assets are legally 

protected from creditors of the employers or plan administrator, for the payment of benefits in accordance 

with the terms of the plan.  As stated above, the trust was created in June 2009 and has been funded every 

year.  At June 30, 2020, the Trust Fund balance was $885,464; the employer contribution for 2020 was 

$178,557.  At June 30, 2019, the Trust Fund balance was $818,314; the employer contribution for 2019 

was $168,137.  The most recent actuarial valuation was made as of September 30, 2019.  Assets of the plan 

and its financial statements are available by contacting The Authority. 

 

Refer to Note C for detailed disclosures about the OPEB Trust investments and concentration of 

credit risk. 

 

Membership - At September 30, 2019, membership of the Plan consisted of the following: 

 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 21 

Retirees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 0 

Active employees 115 

 136 
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(CONTINUED) 

 

Net OPEB liability - The components of the net OPEB liability of the Authority at the June 30, 

2020, measurement date is as follows: 

 

Total OPEB liability (TOL) $ 2,784,794 

Plan fiduciary net position (FNP)  885,464 

Authority’s net OPEB liability (NOL) $ 1,899,330 

   

Ratio of FNP to TOL  31.80% 

 

Actuarial assumptions -The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 

September 30, 2019, using the following key actuarial assumptions and other inputs: 

 

Inflation 2.75% 

Real wage growth 0.25% 

Wage inflation 3.00% 

Salary increases, including wage inflation 3.00% - 5.00% 

  

Long-term Investment Rate of Return, net of OPEB   

     plan investment expense, including price inflation  2.50% 

  

Single Equivalent Interest Rate, net of OPEB plan   

     investment expense, including price inflation   

     Prior Measurement Date  2.50% 

     Measurement Date  2.50% 

  

Health Care Cost Trends   

     Pre-Medicare  6.00% for 2019 decreasing to an   

 ultimate rate of 5.00% by 2022  

     Medicare 5.00% for 2019, steady to an  

 ultimate rate of 5.00% by 2022  

 

 The discount rate used to measure the TOL was based upon the long-term expected rate of return 

on plan investments where assets are projected to cover all future benefit payments plus inflation. 

Projections of the sharing of benefit-related costs are based on an established pattern of practice.  Mortality 

rates for healthy, retired or survivor participants were based on the applicable Pri-2012 Total Dataset 

Amount-Weighted Mortality Table; future projections are based on a generational projection from 2012 

using Scale MP-2019. 

 

The demographic actuarial assumptions for retirement, disability incidence, withdrawal, and salary 

increases used in the September 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience 

study for the period October 1, 2010 – September 30, 2015. 

  

 The remaining actuarial assumptions (e.g., initial per capita costs, health care cost trends, rate of 

plan participation, rates of plan election, etc.) used in the September 30, 2019 valuation were based on a 

review of recent plan experience done concurrently with the September 30, 2019 valuation.  
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(CONTINUED) 

 

Rate of return - For the year ended June 30, 2020, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 

investments, net of investment expense, was 5.51%.  For the year ended June 30, 2019, the annual money-

weighted rate of return on investments, net of investment expense, was 4.63%.  The money-weighted rate 

of return expresses investment performances, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts 

actually invested. 

 

 The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using best-

estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return. The target allocation and best estimate of arithmetic 

real rate of return for each major asset class is summarized in the following table: 

 

    Long-Term Expected 

Asset Class  Target Allocation  Real Rate of Return 

Fixed income  100.00%  2.50% 

                      Total  100.00%   

 

 Discount rate (single equivalent interest rate) - The discount rate used to measure the TOL as of 

the Measurement Date was 2.50%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate was 

performed in accordance with GASB 74.  The projection’s basis was an actuarial valuation performed as of 

September 30, 2019. In addition to the actuarial methods and assumptions of the September 30, 2019 

actuarial valuation, the following actuarial methods and assumptions were used in the projection of cash 

flows:  

 

• Total payroll for the initial projection year consists of the payroll of the active membership present 

on the valuation date.  In subsequent projection years, total payroll was assumed to increase 

annually at a rate of 3.00% - 5.00%. 

 

• Active employees do not explicitly contribute to the Plan.  

 

• The employer will continue to make a contribution equal to the Actuarially Determined 

Contribution.  

 

• Cash flows occur mid-year.  

 

 Based on these assumptions, the Plan’s FNP was projected to not be depleted.  

 
The FNP projections are based upon the Plan’s financial status on the Valuation Date, the 

indicated set of methods and assumptions, and the requirements of GASB 74.  As such, the FNP 

projections are not reflective of the cash flows and asset accumulations that would occur on an ongoing 

plan basis, reflecting the impact of future members.  Therefore, the results of this test do not necessarily 

indicate whether or not the fund will actually run out of money, the financial condition of the Plan, or the 

Plan’s ability to make benefit payments in future years. 

 

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the trend rate - The following exhibit 

presents the NOL of the Plan, calculated using the health care cost trend rates, as well as what the Plan’s 

NOL would be if it were calculated using a health care cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-

percentage-point higher than the current rate. 
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(CONTINUED) 

 

Health Care Cost Trend Rates 

 

 1%    1% 

 Decrease  Current  Increase 

Net OPEB liability $1,614,914  $1,899,330  $2,233,011  

 

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate - The following exhibit 

presents the NOL of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 2.50%, as well as what the Plan’s NOL 

would be if it were calculated using a Discount Rate that is 1- percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point 

higher than the current rate: 

 1%  Current  1% 

 Decrease  Discount  Increase 

 (1.50%)  Rate (2.50%)  (3.50%) 

Net OPEB liability $2,106,422  $1,899,330  $1,706,810 

 

 

Changes in Net OPEB Liability - The TOL is based upon an actuarial valuation performed as of 

the Valuation Date, September 30, 2019. An expected TOL is determined as of June 30, 2020 using 

standard roll forward techniques, shown in the following table: 

 

 

Changes since last year include updating the annual per capita claims to the current assumption 

and updating the assumed mortality projection scale. 
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  Increase (Decrease) 

  Total OPEB    

Plan Fiduciary 

Net   Net  OPEB 

 

 

Liability  Position  Liability (Asset) 

 (a)  (b)  (a)-(b) 

     Balances at 6/30/19 $2,569,978  $818,314  $1,751,664 

    Changes for the year:         

 Service cost 94,587    94,587 

 Interest 63,769    63,769 

 Changes of assumptions 146,309    146,309 

 

Difference between expected & actual 

experience 139,141    139,141 

 Contributions--employer   178,557  (178,557) 

 Contributions--employee   73,555  (73,555) 

 Net investment income   44,028  (44,028) 

 Benefit payments (228,990)  (228,990)  0 

 Other 0  0  0 

 Net changes 214,816  67,150  147,666 

 Balances at 6/30/20 $2,784,794  $885,464  $1,899,330 
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NOTE L - POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS 

(CONTINUED) 

 

OPEB Expense and Related Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources  

 

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Authority recognized OPEB expense of $123,157.  For the 

year ended June 30, 2019, the Authority recognized OPEB expense of $97,185.  At June 30, 2020 and 

2019, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

OPEB of the following sources: 

 

 

June 30, 2020: Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 

 Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience $124,604  $0 

Changes of assumptions 280,208  0 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

 OPEB plan investments 

 

0 

  

22,155 

          Total $404,812  $22,155 

 
 

June 30, 2019: 

 

Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 

 Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience $917  $0 

Changes of assumptions 177,509  0 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

 OPEB plan investments 

 

1,163 

 0 

          Total $179,589  $0 

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources to OPEB 

will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:   

2021   $55,121 

2022  55,121 

2023  50,248 

2024  53,612 

2025  59,065 

Thereafter  109,490 
          

 

NOTE M - PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 

 

 Net position as of July 1, 2018, has been restated as follows to correct errors in the balance of 

Land.  Land at June 30, 2019 was previously stated at $50,866,556 and is restated to $48,837,315 in the 

accompanying financial statements.   
 

Net position as previously reported at July 1, 2018 $326,274,214 

  

Prior period adjustment (2,029,241) 

  

Net position as restated at July 1, 2018 $324,244,973 
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability

Service cost $531,969 $473,308 $462,135 $471,507 $437,233 $443,283

Interest 1,891,690 1,787,579 1,761,629 1,609,686 1,463,012 1,370,643

Changes of benefit terms 0 0 0 0 0 0

Differences between expected 

and actual experience 82,182 182,049 (833,272) 959,930 763,677 0

Changes of assumptions 0 133,133 512,200 0 0

Benefit payments, including refunds

of employee contributions (1,233,439) (1,078,761) (1,028,805) (875,326) (785,666) (532,969)

Transfers among employers (40,504) 81,896 (1,867) 8,371 0 0

Net change in total pension liability 1,231,898 1,579,204 359,820 2,686,368 1,878,256 1,280,957

Total pension liability - beginning 25,184,125 23,604,921 23,245,101 20,558,733 18,680,477 17,399,520

Total pension liability - ending (a) $26,416,023 $25,184,125 $23,604,921 $23,245,101 $20,558,733 $18,680,477

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer $149,901 $251,146 $244,264 $1,436,819 $414,378 $2,814,637

Contributions - member 368,621 333,521 366,329 293,244 285,058 277,908

Net investment income 668,761 2,255,587 2,813,661 2,020,828 224,787 1,744,161

Benefit payments, including refunds

of employee contributions (1,233,439) (1,078,761) (1,028,805) (875,326) (785,666) (532,969)

Transfers among employers (40,504) 81,896 (1,867) 8,371 343,692 203,661

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (86,660) 1,843,389 2,393,582 2,883,936 482,249 4,507,398

Plan net position - beginning 26,421,764 24,578,375 22,184,793 19,300,857 18,818,608 14,311,210

Plan net position - ending (b) $26,335,104 $26,421,764 $24,578,375 $22,184,793 $19,300,857 $18,818,608

Net pension liability (asset) - ending (a) - (b) $80,919 ($1,237,639) ($973,454) $1,060,308 $1,257,876 ($138,131)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total pension liability 99.69% 104.91% 104.12% 95.44% 93.88% 100.74%

Covered payroll * $6,714,790 $6,151,067 $5,755,062 $5,471,941 $5,566,175 $5,572,448

Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage

of covered-employee payroll 1.21% -20.12% -16.91% 19.38% 22.60% -2.48%

* - Covered payroll during the measurement period is the total covered payroll.  For FY2020, the measurement period is 

October 1, 2018 - September 30, 2019.

HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

FISCAL YEARS ENDING SEPTEMBER 30
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This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.



2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contributions $154,578 $178,153 $244,338 $283,625 $422,710 $398,196

Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 154,578 178,153 244,338 283,625 422,710 398,196

Contribution deficiency (excess) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Covered-employee payroll $7,068,723 $6,599,039 $6,058,118 $5,701,773 $5,348,659 $5,407,134

Contributions as a percentage of

covered-employee payroll 2.19% 2.70% 4.03% 4.97% 7.90% 7.36%

Notes to Schedule

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of September 30, three years prior to the end of the 

fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

Contributions for fiscal year 2020 were based on the September 30, 2017 and 2016 actuarial valuation.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates for the period October 1, 2019,

to September 30, 2020:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percent closed

Remaining amortization period 39.6 years

Asset valuation method Five year smoothed market

Inflation

Salary increases 3.25 - 5.00%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 7.75% net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates for the period October 1, 2018,

to September 30, 2019:

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percent closed

Remaining amortization period 14.4 years

Asset valuation method Five year smoothed market

Inflation

Salary increases 3.375 - 5.125%, including inflation

Investment rate of return 7.875% net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation

HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - PENSION

FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30
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This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

2.750%

2.875%



2020 2019 2018 2017

Total OPEB liability

Service cost at end of year $94,587 $89,675 $92,886 $94,562

Interest on the Total OPEB Liability 63,769 62,453 60,053 42,556

Changes of benefit terms 0 0 0 0

Differences between expected 

and actual experience 139,141 73,132 (82,779) 0

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 146,309 30,804 195,764 0

Benefit payments * (228,990) (187,879) (145,834) (50,184)

Net change in total OPEB liability 214,816 68,185 120,090 86,934

Total OPEB liability - beginning 2,569,978 2,501,793 2,381,703 2,294,769

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) $2,784,794 $2,569,978 $2,501,793 $2,381,703

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer ** $178,557 $124,593 $168,138 $55,915

Contributions - member 73,555 63,285 48,308 0

Net investment income 44,028 36,282 (6,604) (9,318)

Benefit payments * (228,990) (187,879) (145,834) (50,184)

Administrative expense 0 0 0 0

Other 0 42,636 0 0

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 67,150 78,917 64,008 (3,587)

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 818,314 739,397 675,389 678,976

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $885,464 $818,314 $739,397 $675,389

Net OPEB liability - ending (a) - (b) $1,899,330 $1,751,664 $1,762,396 $1,706,314

Changes to assumptions or other inputs:

For the June 30, 2020, calculation, the Mortality Table changed from SOA RP-2014 Dataset Mortality adjusted to 2006

and projected with Scale MP-2018 to the following:

     Healthy - Pri-2012 Total Dataset Employee Amount-Weighted Mortality Table

     Retired - Pri-2012 Total Dataset Retiree Amount-Weighted Mortality Table

     Survivor - Pri-2012 Total Dataset Survivor Amount-Weighted Mortality Table

     Future Projections - Generational projection from 2012 using Scale MP-2019

* - Benefit payments are net of participant contributions.  Net benefit payments paid

directly from the employer are also included.

** - Employer contributions include amounts paid directly from the employer.

FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30

- 38 -

Beginning with the ADC for June 30, 2018, (from the September 30, 2016, valuation), the funding method was changed from 

projected unit credit to entry age normal and the amortization method was changed from a level percent of pay to a level dollar 

method.

The discount rate for determining the ADC was decreased from 5.00% for the June 30, 2017, calculation to 2.50% for the 

June 30, 2018, calculation.

HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OPEB LIABILITY

This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.



2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Total OPEB liability $2,784,794 $2,569,978 $2,501,793 $2,381,703 $2,294,769

Plan fiduciary net position 885,464 818,314 739,397 675,389 678,976

Net OPEB liability $1,899,330 $1,751,664 $1,762,396 $1,706,314 $1,615,793

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total pension liability 31.80% 31.84% 29.55% 28.36% 29.59%

Covered payroll * $6,990,547 $6,599,161 $5,897,181 $5,596,622 $5,596,622

Net OPEB liability as a percentage

of covered payroll 27.17% 26.54% 29.89% 30.49% 28.87%

Changes to assumptions or other inputs:

The assumed mortality table was updated for the June 30, 2020 calculation.

* - For years following the valuation date (when no new valuation is performed), covered payroll

was previously set equal to the covered payroll from the most recent valuation.

This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY

FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30

Beginning with the ADC for June 30, 2018, (from the September 30, 2016, valuation), the funding method was 

changed from projected unit credit to entry age normal and the amortization method was changed from a level 

percent of pay to a level dollar method.

The discount rate for determining the ADC was decreased from 5.00% for the June 30, 2017, calculation to 

2.50% for the June 30, 2018, calculation.



2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Actuarially determined contribution $168,138 $168,138 $168,137 $66,919 $66,919

Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 178,557 124,593 168,138 71,430 67,000

Annual contribution deficiency (excess) ($10,419) $43,545 ($1) ($4,511) ($81)

Covered payroll * $6,990,547 $6,599,161 $5,897,181 $5,596,622 $5,596,622

Actual contributions as a percentage of

covered payroll 2.55% 1.89% 2.85% 1.28% 1.20%

Notes to Schedule

The Actuarially Determined Contribution rates, as a percentage of payroll, used to determine the Actuarially Determined 

Contribution amounts are calculated with each biennial actuarial valuation.  The following actuarial methods

and assumptions (from the September 30, 2016, actuarial valuation) were used to determine contributions

rates reported for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level dollar method

Amortization period 30 years, closed

Asset valuation method Market value of assets

Inflation

Real wage growth

Wage inflation

Salary increases, including wage inflation 3.00% - 5.00%

Long-term investment rate of return, net of OPEB

plan investment expense, including price inflation

Health care cost trends

Pre-Medicare 6.00% for 2019 decreasing to an

ultimate rate of 5.00% by 2022

Changes to assumptions or other inputs:

* - For years following the valuation date (when no new valuation is performed), covered payroll

was previously set equal to the covered payroll from the most recent valuation.

0.25%

3.00%

2.50%

HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - OPEB

FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30

2.75%
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Beginning with the ADC for June 30, 2018, (from the September 30, 2016, valuation), the funding method was changed 

from projected unit credit to entry age normal and the amortization method was changed from a level percent of pay to a 

level dollar method.

The discount rate for determining the ADC was decreased from 5.00% for the June 30, 2017, calculation to 2.50% for the 

June 30, 2018, calculation.

This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.



2020 2019 2018 2017

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expense 5.51% 4.63% -1.10% -1.28%

Changes to assumptions or other inputs:

Beginning with the ADC for June 30, 2018, (from the September 30, 2016, 

valuation), the funding method was changed from projected unit credit to 

entry age normal and the amortization method was changed from a level 

percent of pay to a level dollar method.

The discount rate for determining the ADC was decreased from 5.00% for the 

June 30, 2017, calculation to 2.50% for the June 30, 2018, calculation.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS - OPEB

FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30

This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

ON ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 

Board of Directors 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority 

Huntsville, Alabama 

 

Our report on our audit of the basic financial statements of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport 

Authority for June 30, 2020, appears on pages 1 and 2.  That audit was made for the purpose of forming 

opinions on the basic financial statements.  The schedules on pages 43 through 49 are presented for 

purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  The schedules 

on pages 43 and 45 through 49 are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate 

directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  The 

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements 

and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 

statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material 

respects, in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.  The schedule of insurance policies and 

fidelity bonds in force on page 44, which is of a non-accounting nature, has not been subjected to the 

auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we do not 

express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

 

 

       
 

October 15, 2020 
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Statement of Pledged Revenues and Operating Expenses

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

GAAP Statement Include Pledged Revenue

of Revenues Interest & Operating

and Expenses Income
 (1)

Adjustments Expenses

Pledged Revenues

Airfield $ 1,731,742 $ 303,728 $ 0 $ 2,035,470

Business Development 2,500 0 0 2,500

Public Safety 1,809,293 0 0 1,809,293

Landside 8,725,565 0 0 8,725,565

Terminal 8,875,041 0 0 8,875,041

General Aviation 747,912 0 0 747,912

Intermodal 2,750,090 0 0 2,750,090

Air Cargo 2,729,842 0 0 2,729,842

Loading Bridges 509,700 0 0 509,700

Fuel Farm 323,412 0 0 323,412

Total Pledged Revenues 28,205,097 303,728 0 28,508,825

Transfers 0 0 0 0

Operating Expenses

Airfield 2,401,220 0 0 2,401,220

Public Safety 2,054,153 0 0 2,054,153

Landside 2,847,113 0 0 2,847,113

Terminal 5,168,831 0 0 5,168,831

General Aviation 252,033 0 0 252,033

Intermodal 1,983,679 0 0 1,983,679

Air Cargo 668,765 0 0 668,765

Loading Bridges 529,840 0 0 529,840

Fuel Farm 160,803 0 0 160,803

Other (127,925) 0 127,925 0

Total Operating Expenses 15,938,512 0 127,925 16,066,437

Revenue in Excess of 

  Operating Expenses 12,442,388

Debt Service
 (2)

2,170,273

Debt Service Ratio 5.73

(1) - Does not include interest earnings on PFC bond construction account.

AUDITED

GAAP

(2) - Represents principal and interest due in the bond year ending July 1, 2020.  Does not include debt service requirements for 2017 

PFC bond issue, which is payable solely from PFC charges.

Remove

- 43 -



HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

INSURANCE INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

The primary insurance policies of the Authority for which the policy periods began during the fiscal year 

are shown below.  The coverage amounts shown generally represent the aggregate amount, including 

coverage-specific policies, general liability policies, and excess policies.  This information is provided for 

a general understanding of the Authority’s insurance coverage and should not be relied upon for any specific 

purpose without contacting the Authority for information that is applicable to a particular situation. 

 

Policy Description 

 Approximate 

Coverage ($) 

   

Liability   

Hotel Operators (incl. as contract operator’s policy additional insured)  184,000,000 

Products & Completed Operations  150,000,000 

Non-Owned Aircraft  150,000,000 

Hangarkeepers  150,000,000 

Airside Auto  150,000,000 

Railroad (Intermodal Operations)  110,000,000 

Terminal Operations Legal Liability(Intermodal Operations)  2,500,000 

Automobile  101,000,000 

Employer, including workers compensation  100,500,000 

Personal & Advertising Injury  100,000,000 

Malpractice  100,000,000 

War, Hi-Jacking & Other Perils Annual Aggregate  100,000,000 

Liquor  2,000,000 

Employee Benefits  1,000,000 

Directors & Officers  5,000,000 

Employment Practices  5,000,000 

Premises Environmental  5,000,000 

Fiduciary   1,000,000 

Cybersecurity  1,000,000 

   

Property (structures and Authority-owned personal property)   

Cranes and Public Safety Vehicles  10,547,606 

Terminal Building including Hotel  109,841,000  

Parking Garages  33,290,000  

Air Cargo Buildings  24,359,000  

General Aviation Hangars  6,801,000  

Intermodal Buildings  3,234,000  

Other Buildings & Structures  13,737,000  

   

Business Income Loss Protection  7,490,000 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
UNAUDITED 
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019

DEBT SERVICE RESERVE

Balance, July 1, 2019 $ 1,960,430

Deposits 0

Deposits of interest income 25,082

Disbursements and transfers (129,182)

Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 1,856,330

Balance, July 1, 2018 $ 2,054,896

Deposits 0

Deposits of interest income 37,834

Disbursements and transfers (132,300)

Balance, June 30, 2019 $ 1,960,430

AUDITED
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019

                  

REBATE FUND

Balance, July 1, 2019 $ 126,555

Deposits of interest income 1,637

Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 128,192

Balance, July 1, 2018 $ 124,271

Deposits of interest income 2,284

Balance, June 30, 2019 $ 126,555

AUDITED
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019

Balance, July 1, 2019 $ 1,060,290

Deposits 1,073,596

Deposits of interest income 5,180

Receipt of excess funds from 2010 B Bond Fund 4,131

Payments of matured bonds and interest (1,011,200)

Withdrawal in transit (95,245)

Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 1,036,752

Balance, July 1, 2018 $ 1,006,586

Deposits 1,053,731

Deposits of interest income 9,561

Payments of matured bonds and interest (1,009,588)

Balance, June 30, 2019 $ 1,060,290

SERIES 2010A BOND FUND

 AUDITED
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019

Balance, July 1, 2019 $ 391,577

Deposits of interest income 629

Payments of matured bonds and interest (388,075)

Transfer of excess funds to 2010 A Bond Fund (4,131)

Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 0

Balance, July 1, 2018 $ 476,858

Deposits 360,337

Deposits of interest income 4,032

Payments of matured bonds and interest (449,650)

Balance, June 30, 2019 $ 391,577

 AUDITED

SERIES 2010B BOND FUND
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019

2016 BOND FUND

Balance, July 1, 2019 $ 1,091,914

Deposits 1,038,348

Deposits of interest income 5,476

Deposit in transit 95,245

Payments of matured bonds and interest (1,134,714)

Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 1,096,269

Balance, July 1, 2018 $ 1,078,117

Deposits 1,138,927

Deposits of interest income 10,166

Deposit in transit 0

Payments of matured bonds and interest (1,135,296)

Balance, June 30, 2019 $ 1,091,914

AUDITED
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020  

Notes to the Schedules Included in 

Additional Information 

  

 

NOTE A - PLEDGED REVENUES 

 

 Pledged revenues are defined in the trust indenture to include all revenues from the operation, 

leasing, or sale of the airport.  This definition includes certain interest income from various trusts.  

However, all revenue associated with the Four Points Hotel and Industrial Park is specifically excluded. 

 

 

NOTE B - OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

 Operating expenses are defined in the trust indenture to include costs incurred in operating, 

maintaining, administering, and repairing the airport.  The term excludes from its definition depreciation, 

cost of capital projects, cash revenues, payment of bonds, and all expenses associated with the Four Points 

Hotel and Industrial Park. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

To the Board of Directors 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority 

Huntsville, Alabama 

 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 

the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 

General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type and fiduciary activities of the Huntsville-

Madison County Airport Authority, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes to 

the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s basic 

financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 15, 2020.   

 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Huntsville-Madison County 

Airport Authority’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 

statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Huntsville-Madison County 

Airport Authority’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 

control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 

will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 

merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 

was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 

deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 

we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 51 - 



 

 

 

 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s 

financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 

provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 

material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was 

not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed 

no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 

Standards. 

 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 

results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 

compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 

other purpose. 

        
 

October 15, 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL 

PROGRAM AND PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE (PFC) PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

To the Board of Directors 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority 

Huntsville, Alabama 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s compliance with the types of 

compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 

material effect on each of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s major federal programs, with 

the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies, issued by the Federal Aviation 

Administration (Guide) for its PFC program, for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.  The Huntsville-

Madison County Airport Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s 

results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions 

of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs and its PFC program.   

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Huntsville-Madison County 

Airport Authority’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements 

referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 

Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit 

requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 

Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and the Guide.  Those 

standards, the Uniform Guidance and the Guide require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to 

above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program or the PFC program occurred. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Huntsville-Madison County Airport 

Authority’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 

necessary in the circumstances.   

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 

program and PFC program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination on the Huntsville-

Madison County Airport Authority’s compliance.   
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and PFC Program 

 

In our opinion, the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority complied, in all material respects, with 

the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each 

of its major federal programs and its PFC program for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.  

 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

 

The management of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority is responsible for establishing and 

maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred 

to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Huntsville-Madison 

County Airport Authority’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have 

a direct and material effect on each major federal program or PFC program to determine the auditing 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

compliance for each major federal program and PFC program and to test and report on internal control over 

compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and the Guide, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority’s internal control over 

compliance.   

 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 

federal program or PFC program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over 

compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that 

there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 

federal program or PFC program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A 

significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 

in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or PFC 

program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important 

enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 

paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 

compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 

material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 

of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 

Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

       
 

October 15, 2020 
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Federal Federal Agency or Federal

Grantor CFDA Pass-Through Disbursements/

Agency Number Number Expenditures

20.106 N/A $ 25,373,940

TOTAL DOT $ 25,373,940

Transportation Security Administration 97.U01 N/A $ 110,093              

Transportation Security Administration - COVID-19 97.U02 N/A 3,000                  

Passed through Alabama Emergency Management Agency:

FEMA 97.036 089-U003D-00 17,366                

TOTAL DHS $ 130,459              

TOTAL $ 25,504,399         

Department of Transportation

Airport Improvement Programs

Department of Homeland Security

See accompanying notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

 

NOTE A - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

 The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is a summary of the activity of the 

Authority's federal award programs presented on the accrual basis of accounting.  The information in this 

schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 

(CFR), Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 

Federal Awards. 

 

 The Authority did not elect to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate. 

 

 

NOTE B - TRANSPORTATION SECURITY ADMINISTRATION 

 

 Transportation Security Administration revenue and expenditures of $110,093 are included in 

Airport Operations revenue and expenses in the accompanying financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

- 56 - 



HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Unliquidated Unliquidated

PFC PFC Interest PFC

6/30/19 Collected Collected Expenditures 6/30/20

Passenger Facility Charges

Huntsville-Madison County

     Airport Authority $ 1,933,116 $ 2,537,420 $ 20,147 $ 1,475,704 $ 3,014,979
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HUNTSVILLE-MADISON COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

A.  SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 

 

1. The auditor's report expresses an unmodified opinion on whether the financial statements of the 

Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority were prepared in accordance with GAAP.   

 

2. No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements are reported in the 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and 

Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government 

Auditing Standards.  No material weaknesses are reported. 

 

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of the Huntsville-Madison County 

Airport Authority, which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 

Standards, were disclosed during the audit. 

 

4. No significant deficiencies in internal control over major federal award programs disclosed during the 

audit are reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal 

Program and Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Required by the Uniform Guidance.  No material weaknesses are reported. 

 

5. The auditor’s report on compliance for the major federal award programs for the Huntsville-Madison 

County Airport Authority expresses an unmodified opinion on all major federal programs. 

 

6. The audit disclosed no audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR section 

200.516(a) in Part C of this schedule. 

 

7. The programs tested as major programs include:  

 

Airport Improvement Program CFDA # 20.106 

  

8. The threshold for distinguishing Types A and B programs was $765,132. 

 

9. The Huntsville-Madison County Airport Authority was determined to be a low-risk auditee. 

 

 

B.  FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT 

 

None 

 

 

C.  FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS – MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

 

None 
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